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AEBEH (325M) BFE2 T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company” or “DaChan”) is
a transnational conglomerate with operations in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC"), Vietnam and Malaysia. The
Company's shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 2007. The
Company (together with its subsidiaries and its jointly-controlled
entities, the “Group”) is a leading fully integrated animal protein
product provider whose products range from feeds, poultry and
advanced nutritional formulas for aquatic animals to processed
foods.

The Group has more than 30 factories across the PRC, Vietnam
and Malaysia. Its animal feeds are mainly sold under the brands of
"Green Knight” (4k55=+), “Dr. Nupak” (#5218 =) and “SOS”, and
chicken meat and processed foods are mainly sold under the brand
of “Sisters’ Kitchen"” (8%£EE).

The Group distributes its products through well known domestic
and international chain stores, farmers’ markets, online stores,
distributors, and supermarkets. Through its established and
comprehensive sales channels, the Group is well positioned for
its rapid growth.

The Group attaches the utmost importance to the quality of its
food products. The Group’s high standard of quality control has
earned numerous industry awards and recognitions. In 2009,
the Group introduced a pioneering product, a safety traceability
system for its “Sisters’ Kitchen” products, which enables
consumers to trace product information such as the name of the
farmers, the location of the chicken farms, the feeds consumed
by the animals as well as the name of the food-processing
factories.
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The Group endeavours to develop brand-new highly value-added
products by constantly utilizing the latest food technology. By
promptly addressing the ever-changing market demand, the

Group has greatly enhanced the quality of customer services.
VISION

As a company integrating the entire food production chain,
from agricultural source in the upstream, food researchers and
manufacturers in the midstream, to mass consumers in the
downstream, DaChan links every section in a devoted manner
in order to enhance the efficiency and the additional value of the
entire food production chain, as well as provides consumers with
safe, nutritious and healthy products and services. We hope to
promote the interests of each party involved in the upstream,
midstream and downstream of the production chain, including
our staff, shareholders, suppliers, and farmers, so as to achieve
economic and social harmony. In addition, the Group also
stresses on ecological and environmental protection by providing
green, healthy and sustainable food products to the public and
fulfills its social responsibilities, striving to become the most

respectable food company in the Greater China Region.
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COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

o Market leader with high brand publicity

° Highly vertically integrated business with highly efficient
mode of operation

o Strict and high standard of quality control and traceability
system

° Stable and long-standing relationship with nationally and
internationally renowned customers

° Extendable and scalable production facilities and technology
in major strategic locations across the PRC, Vietnam and

Malaysia

° Experienced and dedicated management team members

KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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RMB'000 2021 2020 Changes
KA Turnover 9,350,465 9,278,864 0.8%
/NSl A Profit attributable to owners

ikl of the Company 155,473 202,890 -23.4%
BEME Total assets 3,441,261 4,329,284 -20.5%
AEFE Net assets 2,269,547 2,272,303 -0.1%
BREREF (AR T Basic profit per share (RMB) 0.15 0.20 -25.0%
& B AR(A PR (%) Return on total assets (%) 5.81% 7.02% 17.2%
Tz B3R (%) Return on equity (%) 8.81% 13.37% -34.1%
*BEEmLE *Gearing ratio 18.0% 35.4% -49.2%
BREEFEARET Net assets per share (RMB) 2.23 2.24 0.4%

* BEERILE =5t BEE THEEFE * Gearing Ratio = Interest bearing debt/Average net assets
BREWAREBHR f Iy v
Turnover and Gross Profit Margin Net Profit and Net Profit Margin
(ARWEEBT) (ARWEERT)
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KBWNILSEH 43

Turnover by Business Segment

22.7% 17.1%
L) [ J

[ ]
60.2%

D A& Meat

@ ATFEE Feeds to External Customers

20.4% 18.9%
[ ] [ ]

[ ]
60.7%

@ MI&R Processed Foods
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Chairman’s Statement
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James Chun-Hsien Wei Chairman
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Strengthening the Food Brand, Driving
Integration of Production and Sales

KBS (3EM) APFR2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

After the global outbreak of COVID-19 in 2020, the pandemic
has not been under full control by vaccination and viral mutations
has continued in 2021. Governments around the world have
responded to the sudden downturn and uncertainty in the
economy by adopting massive quantitative easing programs,
and the disruption of the global supply chain caused by the
COVID-19, have led to asset bubbles and sustained high inflation
in the global economy. The Chinese economy outperformed
other major economies in terms of GDP growth in 2021, which
was driven largely by export growth, while the de-leveraging of
real estate enterprises and strict control of the pandemic had a
dampening effect on investment and consumption growth. For
DaChan Food which relies primarily on domestic consumption,
it had to face the challenge of a slowdown in demand growth in
2021.

In 2021, in the face of multiple negative external challenges of
slower consumer demand growth, resurgence of COVID-19 and
rising costs suffered by DaChan Food, the Group still achieved
a year-on-year growth of approximately 6.2% in turnover in the
PRC (excluding Southeast Asia), despite a year-on-year decline
in gross profit, thanks to the efforts of the team. Under the
pressure of global price inflation, the cost of corn and soybean,
which are the main raw materials of feeds, reached record
highs, while the selling price of meat was affected by low pork
prices, oversupply and sluggish demand, resulting in increased
losses in the meat segment. The food export segment suffered
a significant year-on-year decline in profitability due to the
decline in export sales to Japan and the unfavourable impact
of a strengthened US dollar. The Group's overall operating
profit decreased by approximately 30% year-on-year, but still

maintained a positive profit performance.

Z—Z = —F 53R Annual Report 2021
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

| joined DaChan Food on 1 March 2021 and have gained an in-
depth understanding of the challenges faced by the Group in the
development of the agricultural and livestock industry in the past,
which were mainly the over-competition in the electric slaughter
of white feather chickens and losses arising from the low selling
price of meat products. Given that the macro environment
cannot be changed overnight, it is imperative to reduce the
number of meat chickens and strengthen our comparative
advantages, so as to increase our influence on the distribution of
profits in the industry and reduce losses in the meat segment.
In addition, the Group will invest more in the currently profitable
feed and food segment such that our limited resources are put
in areas with higher profit growth and better investment returns
in the future. The Group is optimistic about the overall domestic
consumption market in China in the long run and will focus its
resources on developing the domestic market in the future. With
our sound financial planning, DaChan Food sold its Southeast
Asian business to its parent company in 2021 in order to have
sufficient capital for the Group’s key investment in Bengbu to
set a strong foothold in the Yangtze River Delta for long-term
development. Despite lagging behind in the construction in 2021
caused by a surge in construction costs as affected by price
fluctuation and other factors, with the concerted efforts of our
colleagues, we still aim at project completion by the second
quarter of 2023. Along with the expansion of production capacity,
the Group has also made further investment in human resources
and has started building a digital supply chain system to continue

to enhance its relative competitive position in the industry.
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Chairman’s Statement

The economic cycle is bound to go through peaks and troughs.
After the downturn in domestic consumption in 2021, the central
bank issued an easing signal in early 2022 to cut interest rates
and reserve requirement ratio, which is good news for the
macroeconomic development. The proceeds from the sale of
the Southeast Asian feed business will be used to repay part
of the Group’s bank loans, reduce the Group’'s debt ratio and
strengthen its financial position, with the balance used to support
the construction of the Bengbu plant. DaChan Food is confident
and determined to complete this important investment project
and continue to cultivate the food market in China, upholding
the principle of operating with integrity, to provide healthy and
safe food, and actively implement its corporate environmental,
social and governance responsibilities, hoping to achieve further

success in the post-pandemic era.
Thank you for all your support.

Chairman

James Chun-Hsien Wei

Hong Kong
February 2022

Z—Z = —F 53R Annual Report 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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2021 2020 % change

BEWAARETT) Turnover (RMB'000) 9,350,465 9,278,864 0.8 (note) (3F)

EMARETT) Gross profit (RMB’000) 819,048 1,025,518  -20.1 (note) (7F)
FHE(%) Gross profit margin (%) 8.8 11.1

A AR FE(E & T Profit attributable to
(ANREEFT) shareholders of the Company
(RMB'000) 155,473 202,890 -23.4

it RAEEWARENE SRS 2 HTEEME -

28 BRI e SR Ty )

—ECF FEAMERRASLE —T =%
FIER186%  BER-_ZT—HETHE11%
METFHTIR05% - EHBEIBFET « B
BREBIRIREBEMERE - FEAMEER
fRERZEMR  HieEHBERmISENRES=%
7 GDPRILLIERS. 1%  MEFHIER
5.1% « EBEERFEBHIERFEIRELM
iz o AT - ERFTEEBEEFBEIANNZ TR
BEE - DU 8IRREE | R B RIEE EEER
EEEVEBDAMEEEIBIIKE -

KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Note : These turnover and gross profit include the financial results of discontinued
operations.

ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT AND STRATEGY
DIRECTION

In 2021, food and beverage revenue in Mainland China increased
18.6% as compared with 2020, while it decreased 1.1% as
compared with 2019, with a decrease of 0.5% on average in
two years. Against the increasingly complicated and severe
international economic environment caused by the COVID-19
epidemic, China has withstood pressures from sluggish
demands, supply shocks and weakened market expectations,
with its GDP increasing 8.1% year on year, and recording an
increase of 5.1% on average in two years, which allowed it
to maintain a leading position in economic development and
epidemic prevention and control around the world. However,
due to the sporadic spread of the COVID-19 epidemic in many
parts of Mainland China, the strict epidemic control measure of
"dynamic zero-case” implemented by the Chinese government
has made face-to-face consumption, such as catering, unable to

resume to pre-epidemic levels.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On one hand, the consumer demand is relatively low, and on the
other hand the market supply is relatively excessive. In 2021, the
production volume of live pigs reached 670 million across the
country, representing an increase of 27.4% over the previous
year, and pork production was 52.96 million tons, representing
an increase of 28.8% over the previous year. At the end of the
year, the inventories of live pigs reached 450 million across
the country, representing a year-on-year increase of 10.5%,
of which the reproductive sow inventories were 43.29 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 4.0%, and they reached
101.7% and 96.8% of the respective figure at the end of 2017.
The production capacity of live pigs has gradually recovered,
while the market demand is relatively sluggish, which resulted in
a decrease of 30.3% in pork prices compared with an increase of
49.7% in the previous year. The decline in pig price has reduced
the consumption demand of poultry products. Meanwhile, the
production capacity of white feather meat chicken was further
released in 2021 with its production volume reaching 5.38 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 7.8% and reaching a
record high in the past ten years. Oversupply has caused the

price of chicken meat to hover at low levels.

As the COVID-19 epidemic was still spreading, the recovery pace
of global economy was slowed down and the supply chain crisis
of commodity escalated, which resulted in an overall rising in
inflation level. The rising inflation and deteriorating food supply
problem has driven the global food prices up sharply, and also
kept the price of domestic corn and soybean meal at a high level,
resulting in a significant year-on-year increase in feed costs of
livestock and poultry.

—Z = —FF 3R Annual Report 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

In 2021, faced with the severe and complex economic
environment in domestic and overseas, the Group did not blindly
pursue scale expansion, but adopted a stable development
strategy. Although the profit attributable to shareholders
decreased by approximately 23.4% year-on-year, a profit of
approximately RMB 155,473 thousand was achieved, being
the second highest in the past ten years. The year-on-year
decline in profits was mainly due to the economic downturn in
the Southeast Asian and Japanese markets and the sluggish
domestic livestock and poultry market, which caused the
decrease in profits generated from feeds segment in Southeast
Asia, the export business of the foods segment to Japan and the
meat segment.

As Japan, being our major export destination, remained beset
by the COVID-19 epidemic and economic growth was sluggish,
the export volume to Japan of the Group declined. Coupled with
the impact of the appreciation of Renminbi and soaring shipping
costs, these factors resulted in the operating income and gross
profit of the export food business decreased by 27.4% and
43.8% year-on-year respectively. Despite the unsatisfactory
performance of food products for export, the Group has actively
responded to the severe situation of slowing demand growth in
terms of domestic food products. Although gross profit of the
domestic food products was basically flat year-on-year, operating
income has increased by approximately 23.4% year-on-year.
The Group has continued to identify direct sales customers,
and identified more strategic customers through joint research
and development of customized products and comprehensive
supply chain services. The Group has invested more resources
in key sales regions and channels to help distributors to carry
out various publicity and promotion activities so as to increase
coverage rate. As for product innovation, the Group has devoted
more efforts in new product research and development, and
made use of distributor conferences and various exhibitions to
launch new products and strive to create more products that
hit the market. As for retail business, the Group has focused
its resources on increasing the promotion of its family-sized
products in e-commerce platform, community group purchase,
community convenience stores, farmers’ markets and other
retail channels to further improve the channel construction and
regional network.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In order to allocate more resources on the development of
domestic food, feeds and meat segments, the Group disposed
the equity interest in the feeds business in Southeast Asia in the
fourth quarter of 2021 (for details please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 26 August 2021 and circular dated 24
September 2021), and hence the Group's consolidated operating
income and gross profit only include the amounts of feeds
segment in Southeast Asia before disposal, which decreased
by approximately 9.9% and 49.5%, respectively compared
with those of the whole year of 2020. The proceeds from the
equity interest disposal would be mainly used for investment
and construction of a new plant in Bengbu, Anhui Province, to
consolidate and expand the Group’s market share in the Yangtze
River Delta. The construction of the new plant in Bengbu is
expected to be funded by the aforesaid proceeds, the Company's
internal resources and/or banking facilities in the coming year. It
is now progressing well, and the completion and commissioning
of the project will bring the Group’s food strategy to a new
level. For latest development of the project, please refer to the

Company’s announcements.

With domestic feeds segment seizing the opportunity arising
from the rapid recovery of the pig inventories in the market,
operating income increased approximately 12.5% year-on-year.
Although plagued by a sharp rise in raw material costs, due to
relatively strong product competitiveness of domestic feeds
segment, timely price adjustment, and reliance on the use of
alternative feed raw materials as the supplementary measure,
the gross profit of the domestic feeds segment was basically flat
year-on-year. The Group firmly grasped the opportunity of the
accelerated recovery of the hog breeding market, and devoted
greater effort to the research and development of pig feed
products, striving to provide customers with feed products with
stronger immunity and better value for money, helping customers
to enhance their ability to resist epidemics through the promotion
of the use of functional products and comprehensive animal
protection services, and actively identifying new distribution
customers and directly operated pig farms. More efforts have
been devoted to the R&D and market development of niche
products such as ruminantia, to appropriately disperse risks in
the pig and poultry markets.

—Z = —FF 3R Annual Report 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

As a result of the increased feed costs and continued low
chicken meat prices, gross profit of the meat segment dropped
approximately 35.7% year-on-year. On the one hand, the
Group strategically eliminated farmers with poor breeding
performance and planned to cut the scale of breeding and
electrical slaughtering; on the other hand, the Group continued to
improve the performance of contract feeds, and reduce the cost
of meat chickens breeding by adjusting the contract policy with
farmers to reasonably allocate the profits and losses of breeding;
meanwhile, the Group has also been actively identifying chain
fresh food and mega stores to attract customers who value
product quality, eliminate price-sensitive customers, and enhance

brand value through sales channel optimization.

Looking forward to 2022, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
on the global economy is likely to diminish and the inflationary
threat posed by financial policies adopted by countries to
stimulate economic recovery is likely to remain. The Group will
continue to take the foods segment as the lead for constantly
exploring new sources of growth; diversify the market risk by
product diversification based on the feeds segment; strengthen
cash flow management, and reduce one-stop operating cost with
the meat segment as its safeguard. With the synergy of foods
segment, feeds segment and meat segment, the Group’s overall
industrial competitiveness and anti-risk ability shall be enhanced
through increasing investment in talents and teams, initiating
digital transformation, optimizing supply chain management, and

restructuring sales channels.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, the operating income of the Group was approximately
RMB 9,350,465 thousand, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 0.8%. The total operating income of domestic
segments amounted to approximately RMB 6,530,905 thousand,
net of the operating income of the feeds segment in Southeast
Asia, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
6.2%, of which, the foods segment, feeds segment and meat
segment accounted for 32.5%, 43.1% and 24.4% of the total
operating income of domestic segments, respectively. The
Group's gross profit amounted to approximately RMB 819,048
thousand, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
20.1%. The total gross profit of domestic segments, net of the
gross profit of the feeds segment in Southeast Asia, amounted
to approximately RMB 661,784 thousand, representing a year-
on-year decrease of approximately 7.3%, of which, the foods
segment, feeds segment and meat segment accounted for
58.7%, 33.3% and 8.0% of the total gross profit of domestic
segments, respectively. The foods segment has become the
Group's largest source of profit.

MR Processed Foods

B —E-FF WRES

2021 2020 % change

W A (ARETFIT) Turnover (RMB’000)
— R A — Mainland China 1,814,716 1,470,304 23.4
—HA - Export 309,436 426,400 -27.4
A&t Total 2,124,152 1,896,704 12.0
EFARETT) Gross profit (RMB’000)
— A — Mainland China 354,613 353,001 0.5
—dA — Export 33,932 60,382 -43.8
ol Total 388,545 413,383 6.0
ENE(%) Gross profit margin (%)
—HR BN ~ Mainland China 19.5 24.0
—tHA - Export 11.0 14.2
a5 Total 18.3 21.8
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KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The processed foods segment includes the production and
sales of prepared foods under the “DaChan” and “Sisters’
Kitchen” brand, as well as centrifuged and marinated, stewed,
pre-fried, steamed and grilled food items. Customer groups
include customers at end-consumer markets and professional
markets. The sales channels of the processed foods segment
are mainly group catering, bakery, casual catering, takeaways,
international customers, major chain customers as well as the
retail consumption market. The sales areas of the processed
foods segment cover Japan, Hong Kong, Northeastern, Northern,
Eastern, Southern and Central China and inland regions such as
Northwestern and Southwestern China.

Business Review

In 2021, in the export market, the fall in the sales of food export
segment was due to the impact of the pandemic in Japan;
while in the domestic market, we also faced competitors using
competitive price strategy to capture the market. The foods
segment leveraged on R&D advantages to actively respond to
the situation by developing products with different price and
different flavors. The foods segment provided customers with
all-inclusive menu solutions to increase customer adhesion, thus

achieving stable sales growth.

In addition, the foods segment and the meat segment'’s
collaboration advantages in terms of the supply chain and
strategic customer service have further emerged. Following
stationing in Costco, the Group’s processed cooked food and
fresh chicken meat were once again stationed in another mega

store — Metro.



AR SR e

REFEEFALZ DL - PR AMEZL - L1E
TEERSRMTZIINZE - BEBERH
MIEES c MTRMEBEEBEEFTATE

i

(EESETERMBEEXERTHNER * 18
BEMRF N TESEFEEEM  ()FET
5 BAWSGAE : (I TEREGHE
BRSEGHEEREN  (VAEREFPREHR
TR - B TERBIREG R - BIR AR
R EBERYAZRERNESNAEE
IRREERINE - BESHERS - HMEAT
BER  (ViEEELIHERETHE B
TEHBEMSZMEED © R(ViFFEHER
BeEa - R HEREERE -

EEETWED N

Management Discussion and Analysis

Future Strategies

The core values of the Group's branding are assurance and
traceability. Seizing the opportunities arising from concerns over
food safety of the Chinese people, the Group has developed a
unique edge for its brand. The processed foods segment will

continue to execute the following strategies:

(i) to continue to concentrate resources on product research
and development in the professional catering market, improve
product competitiveness, and create a series of competitive
products; (ii) to develop the market and increase the market
share; (iii) to optimize the channel structure and continuously
improve the performance of the sales team; (iv) to provide a
full range of services to important customers, to form strategic
alliances with them for achieving mutual growth; (v) to continue
to apply the edges in R&D resources for Japanese products to
solicit customers in Singapore, Hong Kong and other regions,
so as to diversify export market risks; (vi) to combine online
sales with offline sales so as to build a brand advantage in
the retail consumer market; and (vii) to further promote digital

transformation and improve supply chain operation efficiency.
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BE R Gk B M%) Livestock Feeds (From External Customers)

—E-F ZTTF ERED L

2021 2020 % change

HEWAARETT) Turnover (RMB'000)
—E — China 2,811,014 2,498,384 125
—HiE - Bkras - Vietnam and Malaysia 2,819,560 3,130,450 9.9
aat Total 5,630,574 5,628,834 0.0
EMARET T Gross profit (RMB'000)
— ~ China 220,418 218,548 0.9
—iiE - HIRAESD - Vietnam and Malaysia 157,264 311,432 -49.5
aat Total 377,682 529,980 -28.7
EFZE (%) Gross profit margin (%)
— - China 7.8 8.7
—HiEg - IR - Vietnam and Malaysia 5.6 9.9
&t Total 6.7 9.4
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KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The operating income of the feeds segment was primarily
derived from the sales of pig feeds, broiler feeds, egg chicken
feeds and Vietnam aquatic feeds, etc. to external customers in
China, Vietnam, Malaysia and Cambodia. Corn and soybean are
the primary raw materials of feeds sold by the Group. The main
product brands of this segment are “Dr. Nupak” and “Green
Knight”. The production and sales region of this segment
covered Vietnam, Malaysia, Cambodia and Northeastern,

Northern, Central and Southwestern China.

After the Group has completed the equity transfer of the feeds
segment in Southeast Asia in the fourth quarter of 2021, the
operating income of the feeds segment was primarily derived
from the sales of pig feeds, broiler and egg chicken feeds to
external customers in Mainland China. Corn and soybean are
the primary raw materials of feeds sold by the Group. The main
product brands of this segment are “Dr. Nupak” and “Green
Knight”. The production and sales region of this segment
covered the northeastern, northern, central and southwestern
China.



4 ol e

R EEREERERESE S _FF+A
RE SRR AERITETE - i S NI
REREE D - R ES ST BERIRE
7o mBEESFEER S EhE T ENE

o ZRENMBBAMLIREHEEE  HOE
BEABSHN - FEERLBERER
REFETEE o @R BEEAREREA
FHE DR EFETISREER 2 AR - AR E
¥ EERAERNEE - B EREGH
B0 HE B E AR R RS R 5 RABR BRI
7N o

AR SR

BRI B ITIA TR - ()RR EDR
RGBS B BRI - ShEBRER)
FEIREIE R H) 2 SR () hnoaf st -
RBEAREER - ARSI TEER &
e - RBBEEROZOHEFES ¢ (i)
BABENEP  AERHEER - RITMRS
X RAREEPNEBEMNERE « UK
(iv)SBIE AR REHRIB Rt E T - 2B REAK
z’g{ﬁ*ﬂ °

EEETWED N

Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

Our R&D team of the feeds segment has been actively
responding to the new antibiotic-free feed regulations
implemented since July 2020, and the feeds processed from
the antibiotic-free formula is no less effective than the original
formula in terms of palatability and feed intake and has also
performed well in controlling piglet diarrhea. The segment also
continues to promote and identify new customers and increase
the market share of pig feeds through large-scale terminal
promotion conferences and core customer empirical tests.
Meanwhile, in response to the rising cost of bulk raw materials
and the sluggish pig market, the feeds segment, on the one
hand, adjusted the price of feeds in a timely manner, and on the
other hand, actively developed and promoted the application of

alternative feed raw materials to reduce feeds costs.
Future Strategies

The feeds segment will continue to pursue the following
strategies: (i) to take advantage of the fermentation technology
for intestinal predigestion in biotechnology and to focus on
marketing activities for sow and piglet functional feeds products;
(i) to devote more efforts in the research and development of
poultry feeds, ruminant feeds and niche market products such
as donkey feeds and meat goose feeds and build up our core
competitiveness in poultry feeds and ruminant feeds; (iii) to
select valued customers and offer them products, technical and
service support so as to enhance their loyalty and contribution
to the Group; and (iv) to strengthen the management of bulk
raw materials procurement systems to create raw material cost
advantages.
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A Meat Product
—E-—F —ECTF EEBE DL
2021 2020 % change
B A (ARETFIT) Turnover (RMB’000) 1,595,739 1,753,326 9.0
EMARETT) Gross profit (RMB'000) 52,821 82,155 -35.7
FEFIE(%) Gross profit margin (%) 3.3 4.7
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The Group mainly sells chilled and frozen chicken meat under
the brand of “Sisters’ Kitchen” and lightly processed tender
chicken meat, it sells chicken meat to fast food shops, internal
and external food processors and food processing service
providers, and supplies feeds and day-old chicks to contract
farmers and takes up the grown chickens. The production region
of the segment covers Northeastern, Northern and Eastern China

regions while its sales network covers the entire nation.

Business Review

Through the introduction of strategic cooperation partners in
the breeding of parental broods, the meat segment is able to
stabilize the supply of day-old chicks while guaranteeing their
quality. Meanwhile, following continuous progress of caging
reform projects, the average breeding scale of contract farmers
increased significantly and the rearing cost of individual breeder
decreased significantly. The continuous improvement in the
performance of contract feeds also helped farmers to lower
their breeding costs effectively and improved the overall farming
efficiency of broilers. The increased extent of automation of
electrical slaughterhouses has lowered the segment’s reliance
on labor force to a certain extent and the cost of chicken meat
processing is lowered. The meat segment also actively identified
the customers of chain fresh food and mega stores, and
enhanced brand value through sales channel optimization, and
the Group will continue to drive various reforms to build its core

competitiveness in the meat segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Future Strategies

The meat segment will continue to adhere to and implement
the operating strategy of “eliminating risk” in future, particular
measures of which include: (i) to achieve the provision of around
50% of the day-old chicks by broiler self-breeding farms and
cooperative farms, and to sign strategic cooperation supply
contracts with external broiler farms for the remaining around
50% of the day-old chicks depending on the market price trend,
through which we will be able to diversify the market risk while
ensuring the quality of day-old chicks; (ii) to persistently improve
the performance of contract feeds, strengthen animal protection
immunization and epidemic prevention services, assist farmers
to strengthen the rearing and breeding management, reduce the
rearing and breeding costs, and improve the rearing and breeding
performance; (iii) to continue promoting automation projects for
equipment in the electrical slaughterhouses; and (iv) to continue
increasing the proportion of converting the Group’s chicken meat
to prepared foods and deeply processed foods products and
eliminate the market risk when the meat market is on decline, etc..

Financial Review
1) Other Operating Income and Operating Expenses

In 2021, the Group recorded other operating income of
approximately RMB16,708 thousand (2020: approximately
RMB22,094 thousand) which mainly comprised of interest
income and government subsidies. The decrease in other
operating income was mainly due to the decrease in
government subsidies.

In 2021, other net gain of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB12,059 thousand (2020: net losses of
approximately RMB3,915 thousand). Other net income
mainly includes net gain on the disposal of assets and
impairment reverse of fixed assets.

Distribution costs accounted for approximately 4.62% of
total turnover (2020: approximately 4.94%).

Administrative expenses accounted for approximately
3.68% of turnover (2020: approximately 3.64%).
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2)

3)

4

KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

TENE & ~ MHE W E AR

RZB-—F+-A=+—H &&
EHRe RRITFRERNABARE
625,059F T M-ZEZZFRFEIOA
R#6,311F 7T - NEBMOEF 2 ERUR
L ANREE397 159 F TEHARE
407,492 F T (ZZ2ZZTF | HARE
804,651F7) c R_T_—F+_A
=+—B  HREREERNLENA
18.0% (ZE T4 [ §)35.4%) ° i

LRGN0 (2T ZFF 1 4
1.56%) KIFRMEKT ©

BAPA X

ZIE - —F  AEEBEBEHOARE
178,016 F THEE W% - #Mes N &E -
REBRREERRBITIERBERH
THEEES KR ©

[

REEBNEBRHIEEUARE - £
RMmEETE - REBEFER - 8EE
HARBEELN0.85% - ARBYET
FHEXI2.34%

3)

4)

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’'s cash and bank
deposit balances amounted to approximately RMB625,059
thousand, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB6,311 thousand from 2020. The Group's interest-
bearing borrowings decreased by approximately
RMB397,159 thousand to approximately RMB407,492
thousand (2020: approximately RMB804,651 thousand). As
at 31 December 2021, the interest-bearing borrowings to
equity ratio was approximately 18.0% (2020: approximately
35.4%). Current ratio was maintained at a healthy level of

approximately 2.29 times (2020: approximately 1.56 times).

Capital Expenditure

In 2021, the Group's capital expenditure on the acquisition
of properties, machinery and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB178,015 thousand which was primarily

paid from internal resources and bank borrowings.

Exchange Rate

The Group's business transactions are mainly denominated
in RMB, USD and VND. During the year under review, VND
against RMB depreciated by approximately 0.85% while
RMB against USD appreciated by approximately 2.34%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Interest

In 2021, the Group’s interest expense amounted to
approximately RMB12,575 thousand (2020: approximately
RMB19,318 thousand), representing a decrease of
approximately 34.9% from 2020. The decrease in interest
expenses was mainly due to the average borrowing

balances fall.

Dividends

To reserve the resources for the Group's business
development, the Board decides not to distribute any
dividend for the year 2021 (2020: no distribution).

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no security

against bank facilities.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 December 2021, the capital expenditure of the
Group contracted for but not provided in the financial
statements was approximately RMB36,668 thousand
(2020: approximately RMB25,961 thousand) and the
capital expenditure authorised but not contracted for was
approximately RMB471,566 thousand (2020: approximately
RMB138,298 thousand).
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Employee Compensation and Training

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 8,099
employees (31 December 2020: 10,470). The Group has paid
remuneration to its staff with reference to the industry practice,
the financial performance of the Group and the employee’s
work performance in order to form a team of professional
staff and management to fulfil the development needs of the
Company. The Group places great emphasis on the training and
development of employees and regards excellent employees
as the Group's core competitiveness. With a view to constantly
enhancing their job skills and industry knowledge, the Group has
offered various training programs to its members of management
and other employees. The Group implemented these programs
not only to enhance the quality of its staff, but also to give best
chances for development of their personal career. The Group
regularly reviews compensation and benefit policies according
to industry benchmarks, financial results as well as the individual
performance of employees so as to offer fair and competitive
compensation packages to the employees. Other fringe benefits
including insurance, medical benefits and provident fund are also
provided to retain loyal employees.
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DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei, Chun-hsien (E£ %), also known as James Chun-
Hsien Wei, aged 64, has been appointed as an executive Director
of the Company, and the chairman of the board of directors of
the Company, a member and the chairman of the executive
committee of the Company with effect from 1 March 2021. Mr.
Wei, Chun-hsien is an independent director of Taiwan Ta Ya
Electric Wire & Cable Company Limited, a director of ShyaHsin
Packaging Co., Ltd. and KSF Beverage Holding Co., Ltd., and a
senior advisor to the Blackstone Private Equity Group. Mr. Wei
Chun-hsien served as the chief executive officer of the Tingyi
Holding, which shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, from 2015 to 2020 and the chief executive
officer of food business of Tingyi Food from 2013 to 2014. Prior
to joining Tingyi Holding, Mr. Wei, Chun-hsien was a senior
advisor of CVC Capital Asia Pacific in 2012. From 2009 to 2011,
he was the executive board member and the president of the
Asian region of Beiersdorf Aktiengesellschaft Group. From 2003
to 2009, he served as the senior vice president of Asia Pacific
region of Avon Products Inc., where he was responsible for the
operations in 10 markets, including Japan, Taiwan, Australia,
Philippines and India. Before that, Mr. Wei, Chun-hsien spent 19
years at Procter & Gamble, where he was promoted to become
the vice president and general manager of Greater China region,
overseeing the company’s health and beauty care business in
that region.

Mr. Wei, Chun-hsien holds a bachelor’'s degree in Electrical
Engineering from National Taiwan University and a master's
degree in Business Administration from the University of Chicago
Booth School of Business in the United States.
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Mr. Han Chia-Yin (¥83X &), aged 61, has been appointed as
an executive Director of the Company and a member of the
executive committee of the Company since 27 October 2011.
He was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from 1
March 2012 to 1 April 2016. He also serves as a director of Great
Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. ("GWE"), a company incorporated in
Taiwan, with its shares listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation (“Taiwan Exchange”), and it is the indirect controlling
shareholder of the Company. He was the general manager of the
Great Wall Group Food Service Division and held a number of
positions in several associations of the food industry in Taiwan.
He is also a director of Impreza Investments Limited, Great Wall
Dalian Investment Co., Ltd., Dongbei Agri Corporation, Great
Wall Kuang-Ming Investment (BVI) Co., Ltd., Miyasun Great Wall
(BVI) Co., Ltd., Great Wall Northeast Asia Corporation, Great Wall
Nutrition Technologies SDN. BHD, Asia Nutrition Technologies
(VN) Investment Co., Ltd., Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited (£
BAKERAR AT and Great Wall Food (Dalian) Co., Limited
(KRB R an (Ki&) AR A).

Mr. Han Chia-Yin graduated from Feng Chia University in Taiwan
with a bachelor’s degree in Information Engineering & Computer
Science and obtained a master’s degree in Computer Science
from the University of New Haven in USA. He is a younger
brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han Jia-
Hwan and an uncle of Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin (#X £), aged 75, has been a non-executive
Director of the Company since 2007. He has served as a director
of GWE since 2007. He is also the chairman and a director of
CTS Investment Corporation and Zhi Fu Investment Corporation.

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin graduated from Tamkang University (%L
KE) with a bachelor’'s degree in irrigation engineering. He has
extensive business management experience in information
technology industry and traditional industries, such as food and
services.

Mr. Han Chia-Yau (323RF), aged 72, has been a non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company since 2007. Mr. Han Chia-Yau
joined GWE in 1991 and he was the vice chairman of the board
of directors of GWE from 1995 to 2001. Since 2001, he has
been the chairman of GWE. He is also a director of TTET Union
Corporation, which shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange.

Mr. Han Chia-Yau obtained a bachelor’'s degree from Chung
Yuan Christian University (F R¥2 T2f7) and a master's degree
in Computer Science from the University of Connecticut in 1973
and 1978 respectively. He is an older brother of Mr. Harn Jia-
Chen, Mr. Han Jia- Hwan and Mr. Han Chia-Yin and an uncle of
Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (3% =), aged 67, has been re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from
1 March 2020. He has been a member of the nomination
committee of the Company since 2007, and has been a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company with effect
from 1 January 2019. During the period from 1 January 2019
to 29 February 2020, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen was re-designated as
an executive director of the Company, and was appointed as
the chairman of the board of directors of the Company and the
chairman of the executive committee of the Company. Since
1984, he has been the vice chairman of the board of directors
of GWE. Since 1995, he has been the chairman of the board
of directors of Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KX & & K
2) BB AF)), a subsidiary of GWE engaged in flour production.
Since 1999, he has been the chairman of the board of directors
of DaChan Wanda (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (K& E (X&) AR A 7).
Since 2003, he has been the chairman of the board of directors
of DaChan Showa Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KEKXFRFIR 5 KE)
BBRAE]). From May 2006 to April 2015, he was the president
of Taiwan Asset Enterprise Association of Tianjin (K& = /&
RIS E M ERHE). Since May 2015, he has been the honorary
president of Taiwan Asset Enterprise Association of Tianjin. From
April 2007 to May 2010, he was elected as the vice-chairman
of the Association of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the
Mainland (2B ZERMRIEECEHES). From May 2010 to
April 2015, he was the standing vice president of the Association
of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the Mainland. Since May
2015, he has been the consultant of the Association of Taiwan
Investment Enterprises on the Mainland. He is also a director of
DaChan Wanda (HK) Limited (KX &3E (F7%8) BRAF), Hwabei
Agri Corporation (¥4t 2% 2 7)) and Union Manufacturing
Limited (B & RIEHRAF).

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen obtained his master’'s degree in business
administration from the University of New Haven in 1986. He
is an older brother of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Han Chia-Yin,
a younger brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau and an uncle of Mr.
Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (32X %E), aged 66, has been re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 1
January 2019. He has also been a member of the nomination
committee of the Company since 2007. From 2007 to 2018, Mr.
Han Jia-Hwan had been an executive Director of the Company,
the chairman of the board of directors of the Company, a
member of the remuneration committee and nomination
committee and the chairman of the executive committee of the
Company. He is also the chairman of Taixu & DaChan Foods
Co., Limited (ZEEAKEMABPRAF) and a director of Taixu &
DaChan Foods Holdings Co., Limited (ZE&AKE RIZER AR A
7)), Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN) Investment Co., Ltd. and
Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Company Limited (BVI). Mr. Han
Jia-Hwan has over 30 years of experience in feeds and food
production business in the Asia Pacific region. In recognition of
his contributions to the agricultural industry, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan
was elected as one of the Ten Outstanding Young Persons (1K
BEH B F) in Taiwan in 1994.

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan received his bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from National Cheng-chi University (B3 BUA K
£) and a master’'s degree in business administration from the
University of Chicago in 1977 and 1983 respectively. He is a
younger brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, an older
brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yin and the father of Mr. Jonathan Fang-
Tsu Han.

Mr. Wei Anning (Bf% %), aged 59, has been re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company since 1 March
2021. During the period from 31 October 2014 to 29 February
2020, Mr. Wei Anning was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, and he served as a member
of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the
Company, and the chairman of the remuneration committee
of the Company, thereafter he remained to be a member of
the nomination committee and the remuneration committee
of the Company until 1 March 2020. Mr. Wei Anning was then
re-designated as an executive Director of the Company, and
was appointed as the chairman of the board of directors of
the Company, the chairman and a member of the executive
committee of the Company from 1 March 2020 to 28 February
2021. Mr. Wei Anning is an executive director and the general
manager of Shanghai Gueva Investment Management Limited
(BRI EEIR AR /AT, an independent director of Fortune
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Fund Management Co., Ltd. (EEE S EE AR AT, Jiahe
Foods Industry Corporation Limited (ERE f LERMDBR AR,
Bondex Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (B2 Bz HtEiEE
BRD AR AT and Minsheng Securities Co., Ltd. (R4 ZEHMK
3B R /A7]). He was an agricultural economist of the Department
of Agricultural and Natural Resources of the World Bank, a
manager of food & agribusiness research of the Rabobank Group
(Northeast Division), and the Chief Executive Officer (China
Region) and president (Shanghai Branch) of Fortis Bank S.A./
N.V. He was also the executive vice president of Sichuan New
Hope Group (PU)I|#1 7% £ % @), the president of Shandong Liuhe
Group (LUE/SXFIEE), the chairman of the board of directors of
Chinwhiz Agribusiness Co., Ltd. (LR AFREZEEBRRAA)
and an independent director of Ningbo Tech-Bank Co., Ltd. ()%
KIBRAD BBR A A)), which shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange and Orient Securitites Company Limited (35 :& %
f& 13 BBR A 7)), which shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and a
director of Yantai Changyu Pioneer Wine Company Limited (&
KRB BB D AR A R]), which shares are listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and JiangSu Financial Leasing Corporation
Limited (IL#k & atMHER K AR 2 R]), which shares are listed
on Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Wei Anning has in-depth
understanding and rich experience in the integration of finance
and the agricultural and livestock food industry, the development
of agricultural and livestock food industry, the operation and
management of agricultural and livestock food corporations.

Mr. Wei Anning obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Economics in
Nankai University in 1982, his master’s degrees in Economics
in Peking University in 1986 and in Williams College in the
United States in 1991 and his doctorate degree in Agricultural
Economics in University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the
United States in 1997.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Chih (Bf34), aged 68, has been an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the nomination committee
of the Company and a member of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company since 2007. Mr. Chen
Chih had served as the president of GE Healthcare China since
1996. He was promoted to vice president of General Electric
Company in 2001, and he retired from the position in 2009. Mr.
Chen Chih has also been the chairman of SKR Healthcare Group
Limited (B EFE S E AR A R]) since 2010.

Mr. Chen Chih received his Ph.D. degree in mechanical
engineering from Lehigh University in 1984.

Mr. Way Yung-Do (7K %), aged 76, joined the Company in
2008 and is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
of the audit committee of the Company and a member of the
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Way Yung-Do has over 35 years of experience
in financial advisory, accounting and auditing and served as
managing partner and CEO of an international accounting firm
in Taiwan before retiring from the position in 2007. He was a
director of Synnex Technology International Corporation, which
shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange, between 2015 and
2021. He was also a director of Chilisin Electronics Corporation,
which shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange, between 2018
and 2020. Since 2012, Mr. Way Yung-Do served as the Chairman
of YCSY Co., LTD. CKEEERMNDBRAF]). He is also a director
of the following companies which shares are listed on the Taiwan
Exchange:

Far Eastern Department Stores Co., Ltd.

- MITAC Holdings Corporation

- Vanguard International Semiconductor Corporation

- Iron Force Industrial Co., Ltd.

- Cathay Financial Holding Co., Ltd.

- Taita Chemical Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Way Yung-Do graduated from Soochow University (Taiwan)
with a bachelor’'s degree in accounting and obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from the University of Georgia.
Mr. Way Yung-Do has the public accountant qualifications in
Taiwan and Georgia, U.S.A. He is also a certified internal auditor
of the Institute of Internal Auditors.

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (7T £Ll), aged 71, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company with effect from 2 March 2020. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan has
served as an independent director and the chairman of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of GWE since 2016.
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan qualified as a certified public accountant in Taiwan
in 1985. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan has extensive experience in areas such
as financial advisory and accounting. He served as an accountant of
Prosperity United Firm, Certified Public Accountants in Taiwan (£
JEREE A @A EEFT) from 1986 to 1998, and an accountant of
KPMG Taiwan (/8% &2 X5 & 5TEIEH5AT) from 1999 to 2008.

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan holds a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Soochow University and a master's degree in accounting from
Soochow University.

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (E35), also known as Andrew L.Y.Hsia, aged 71,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company and served as a member of the remuneration committee,
the audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company
since 1 March 2021. Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan is the president of Foreign
Relations Association and the vice president and the spokesperson
of Phu My Hung Holdings Group.

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan holds a bachelor’'s degree of law from Fu Jen
Catholic University, a master’s degree of diplomacy from National
Chengchi University and a master's degree of law from the
University of Oxford in the United Kingdom.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Sun Teh Hong (F2£%), aged 65, had served as the Vice Chief
Executive Officer of the Company since 1 January 2019 and has
been the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from
1 March 2020, and also serves as the head of the feed business
group and the meat business group at the same time. Mr. Sun Teh
Hong has nearly 40 years of experience in food and feed business
in the Asia Pacific region. Mr. Sun Teh Hong engaged in trading of
feed ingredients in Japanese trading house-Mitsubishi Corporation
(BE=ZmERMOAR QT from July 1981 to November 1994. He
served as the general manager of Tongquan Food Industry Co., Ltd.
(HERMIERM AR AR, a company that engaged in integration
of chicken and duck breeding, processing, and sale, as well as export
of processed duck meat, from November 1994 to June 2000. He
worked as the general manager of Wenhao Trading Co., Ltd. (&4
B 5B R A7) from July 2000 to September 2008. Then, he worked
as the special assistant to the general manager’s office of GWE from
September 2008 to May 2010. He has been the general manager
of Great Wall Feedtech Co., Ltd. (KR KEEERNDBRAR) since
June 2010 and the general manager of TNT Biotechnology (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd. (BBEAMEI (K)2) BR 2 8)) since June 2011.

Mr. Sun Teh Hong graduated from the Department of International
Trade of National Taiwan University in June 1979.
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Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng (5R=F), aged 64, has been the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company with effect from 1 January 2019
and has been the Chief Human Resources Officer of the Company
with effect from 1 July 2020. Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng served as the
account manager of the Taiwan branch of Bankers Trust New York
Corporation (ER{ZFR1TZ/#577) and the fund manager of China
Investment Trust Co., Ltd. (FEHREEFEFERMH AR AR]) from 1983
to 1989. From 1989 to 1997, he served as the financial manager
of GWE. Since 2003, he has served as the Chief Financial Officer
of Northeast Asia Corp. Group (AKAKEIL T EZEY), which was
merged with other national (regional) businesses of GWE in 2007
to establish the Company, which was listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng
was the in-charge person of the listing of the Company and served
as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company upon its listing until
2009. Subsequent to 2009, Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng continued to work
in GWE until 2011. Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng served as the chairman of
China Securities Investment Advisory Co. (P IEE AR ERER QA
from 2011 to the end of 2017. Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng is a certified
finance analyst in Taiwan and has extensive experience in the fields
of finance and investor relationship.

Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business from
the National Taiwan University (B137 2% X&) and a master's degree
in business administration from the University of Chicago in 1979
and 1983 respectively.
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Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han ($3518), aged 39, joined the
Company in 2012 and was consecutively responsible for finance,
strategic planning of the Group, operation management of the feed
business and the meat and food business. Mr. Jonathan Fang-
Tsu Han had been promoted to the vice president of the Company
since 1 April 2017. He had also served as the deputy director of
Finance Resources Group of the Company since 8 August 2018. Mr.
Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han had been re-designated as Special Assistant
to the President of the Company since 1 January 2019. He also had
been the head of International business group Il of the Company
since 1 March 2020. Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han has resigned as
Special Assistant to the President of the Company and the head of
International business group Il of the Company and re- designated
as Special Assistant to the chairman of GWE with effect from 1 July
2020. He is a member of the executive committee of the Company.
Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han has extensive experience in operation
analysis and strategic management.

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han graduated from Simon Graduate School
of Business (EFIREPT) at the University of Rochester of the
United States in 2012 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in Computer
Science from Northwestern University of the United States in 2003.
He is the son of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and the nephew of Mr. Han Chia-
Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han Chia-Yin.
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INTRODUCTION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present the corporate governance report for the year ended 31

December 2021 as follows.

The board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to enhancing the Group’s corporate governance standards by
improving corporate transparency through effective channels of
information disclosure. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is beneficial for maintaining close and trustful
relations with its employees, business partners, shareholders

and investors.

The Company has adopted a corporate governance code
prepared based on the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)
of the corporate governance code (version date: up to 31
December 2021) (the “Code"”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as the guidelines for
corporate governance of the Company, and has taken steps to

comply with the Code wherever appropriate.

Terms used in this report shall have the same meaning as
those defined in the Listing Rules unless the context otherwise

requires.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
has complied with the Code Provisions with the following

exceptions:
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Under Code Provision F.1.1, the company secretary should
be an employee of the Company and have the day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs.

Ms. Cho Yi Ping ("Ms. Cho"), a partner of the Company’s
Hong Kong legal advisers, has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) with effect
from 8 August 2016.

The Company has assigned a member of the senior
management, Ms. Feng Yuxia, the head of legal department of
the Company as the contact person with Ms. Cho. Ms. Cho is
a practicing solicitor of Hong Kong with understanding of the
Listing Rules. Her qualifications meet the requirements of the
Listing Rules in terms of a company secretary of a listed issuer.
Further, whenever necessary, the contact person assigned will
promptly deliver information regarding the performance, financial
positions and other major development and affairs of the Group
to Ms. Cho. Having in place a mechanism that enables Ms.
Cho to get hold of the Group’s development promptly without
material delay and with her expertise and experience, the Board
is confident that having Ms. Cho as the Company Secretary is
beneficial to the Group’s compliance with the relevant board

procedures, applicable laws, rules and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH DEED OF NON-
COMPETITION

The Company has received a confirmation (the “Confirmation”)
from Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd ("GWE") signed by it on
21 January 2022 confirming that for the period from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of signing the
Confirmation by the relevant covenantor, it has fully complied
with the deed of non-competition executed by GWE in favour
of the Company dated 14 September 2007 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) (as varied by two deeds of variation executed by
GWE and the Company dated 25 June 2010 and 18 December
2012 respectively).
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Confirmation and all of them are satisfied that the Deed of Non-
Competition has been complied with during the period under

review.

DIRECTORS

THE BOARD

The Board, led by the chairman, steers the Company's business
direction. It is responsible for formulating the Company's long-
term strategies, setting business development goals, assessing
results of management policies, monitoring the management'’s
performance, and ensuring effective implementation of risk

management measures on a regular basis.

The Directors meet regularly to review the Group's financial
and operational performance and to discuss and formulate
future development plans. Regular Board meetings are
attended by Directors in person or through electronic means of

communication.

BoARD COMPOSITION

During the period from 1 January 2021 to 28 February 2021, there
were 9 Directors, all being industry veterans, responsible to the
shareholders for formulating the overall business development
targets and long-term company strategies, assessing results
of management policies, and monitoring performance of the
management. During the period from 1 January 2021 to 28

February 2021, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wei Anning (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Way Yung-Do

Mr. Chen Chih

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

On 1 March 2021, Mr. Wei Anning resigned from the position
of the chairman of the Board and was re-designated from an
executive Director to a non-executive Director; Mr. James Chun-
Hsien Wei was appointed as an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board; and Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director. During the period from
1 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, there are 11
Directors and the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Wei Anning

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Way Yung-Do

Mr. Chen Chih

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

An updated list of the Directors by category identifying their
role and function is at all times available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The list specifies whether a
Director is an independent non-executive Director and expresses
the respective membership of each Director in each board

committee.
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The Company identifies the independent non-executive Directors
in all corporate communications which disclose the names of

Directors.

Details of the biographies of the Directors are given under the
section headed “Director and Senior Management Profile” of

this annual report on pages 25.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management profile” of this annual report, and that Mr. Han
Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and Mr. Han
Chia-Yin are brothers, there are no relationships (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship(s)) among members of the Board and between the

chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors play an important role
on the Board. Accounting for more than one-third of the Board
members, they are experienced professionals in their respective
fields. They are responsible for ensuring that the Board maintains
high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting as well
as providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding
the interest of shareholders of the Company and the Group as a
whole. Throughout the year of 2021, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors with
at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications on accounting or related financial management
expertise; and the number of independent non-executive
Directors has represented at least one-third of the Board.
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NUMBER OF MEETINGS ATTENDED/HELD IN 2021

During the year of 2021, the Board held 4 regular meetings
at approximately quarterly intervals and 3 additional meetings
to consider the matters regarding the appointment of an
independent non-executive Director, change in the composition

of board committees and publication of relevant announcements.

As regards general meetings, the Company held the annual
general meeting on 29 June 2021 and an extraordinary general
meeting on 15 October 2021 to consider matters regarding the
Company’s connected transaction and continuing connected

transactions.
A table of summary in regard to the Directors’ participation at the

various board meetings and board committee meetings and the

Company’s general meetings is set out below:
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Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination Executive General
Meetings Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting(s)

FEEEE ENZREE yMzag REZEE HiTREE RRAE

HiTES Executive Directors
Z{EE A (RZZ Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei 6/6 TR TER TR 10/10 22
Z—%=H—H (became an executive Director N/A N/A N/A
FAHTES)  on 1 March2021)
BRERL Mr. Han Chia-Yin 617 TER TER TER 11 22
N/A N/A N/A
FHTES Non-executive Directors
BFRAE Mr. Har Jia-Chen 617 TEm 22 202 TR 112
N/A N/A
BFRRHE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan 47 TER TER 22 TER 012
N/A N/A N/A
BRTRA Mr. Han Chia-Yau 6/7* TR 22 TR TR 112
N/A N/A N/A
HRERE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin 6/7* TER TEfA TEfE TER 12
N/A N/A N/A N/A
HRERA Mr. Wei Anning {re-designated 6/7 TER TiEA TER i 112
(R=Z=—%  from an executive Director to N/A N/A N/A N/A
=“A—BH#1T  anon-executive Director on
ESHIAEY 1 March2021)
122
BAUFHTES  Independent Non-executive Directors
WxERE Mr. Way Yung-Do i 44 22 22 A 22
N/A
Bakk Mr. Chen Chih 7 414 212 2/2 TNEA 2/2
N/A
TELEE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan 6/7* 4/4 202 22 TR 22
N/A
B 54 (=T Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (became an 5/6 44 i n TR 22
~“—%=A—H independent non-executive N/A
FKABUIEHT  Director on 1 March 2021)
%)

* BRELE  BRFLE BRELEEBEX * Mr. Han Chia-Yin, Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Mr. Chao Tien-Shin
BEERT RNEETELE-"S=-—F\A and Mr. Ting Yu-Shan did not attend the Board meeting on 26 August 2021,
ZHANHMESESEH  Z2REBERLAARHE which solely considered the transactions between the Company and Great
Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. (K& Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. (an associate of Great Wall Enterprise
WEEROBRATNEE AR - LESTA Co., Ltd., of which the aforesaid Directors are also directors), as they were
ZATIMES) Z2ENRS - REAREARQT required not to vote nor attend such meeting pursuant to the Company's
R ERRAA) - BEERENHEZEE - Articles of Association.

42 KFES (Z5M) A2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited



THEZSERNBHNENERRITARD
URAZRERHL  MEMEESEE W
B) B BAMA— RN EEAT A EER A
$ o

FEMARETEXMHERMAER - THK
AREMERE  YEIREEETEERAHE
BETZEegRRAMAMAIX (EK &R
SEWMERINTETERES - ARBRESF
ERREHENESTEXN  RERFHE
> UL EREDTAR R &N ER MBI
Mo REEAREEENEREIAGHSERE
WAEHAERE

ESEehEEFNAEEREREYEEER
LA Bh RS EITHE - BRBARARIEAE - #
RBERRMESFGIREZRE - ATRBEITR
EHBEREREVEEER  BHBAQT
FRPE o

FEEESERLARRIZERZES ([&
]

“LZEg])  FHEZEE ((FHEES))

YRR e AN ESREENEIESERE
gl emzgaci  JAKZENNER
7o LitPrE GRS HARKE ZE B R
A IR RS A RO B SR R E
BREFRINEIMMIRENREER
EAAIEF AP EL & IR iR AR BV (A & SRR

EHZREGHLCH

TEERBME
Corporate Governance Report

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, while reasonable notice is

generally given for other board meetings (if any).

Agenda and accompanying board papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all
Directors in a timely manner, and at least 3 days before the
intended date of each Board or board committee meeting, except
agreed otherwise among the members, to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the board papers and adequately
prepare for the meeting, to keep the Directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company, to
enable them to include any matter in the agenda, and to make

informed decisions.

The Board and each Director, upon reasonable request, have
access to independent professional advice to assist them in
performing their duties to the Company, at the Company's
expense. When needed and upon making request to the Board,
Directors may obtain independent professional advice at the

Company’s expense in carrying out their duties.

Minutes of all the meetings of the Board, the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee"”), the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”, together with the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and other committee(s) of the Board,
the “Board Committees”) of the Company are kept by the
appointed secretary. All of the above minutes record the matters
considered and the discussions and decisions reached by the
relevant members in sufficient detail, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Any Director
may inspect the minutes at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice.
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Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of
the relevant committee for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions thereof are sent to all
Directors or committee members for their record.

The Company has maintained appropriate insurance cover in

respect of legal action against its Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the chairman (the “Chairman”) of the Board and the
chief executive officer (the "“Chief Executive Officer”) of the
Company to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Company adopted a set of consolidated memorandum of duties
setting out its division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer on 23 March 2012. In the year
2021, during the period from 1 January 2021 to 28 February
2021, the position of the Chairman was held by Mr. Wei Anning;
from 1 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, the
position of the Chairman is held by Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei.
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this report, the position of Chief Executive Officer is held
by Mr. Sun Teh Hong.

This ensures a clear distinction between the Chairman’s duty
to manage the Board and the Chief Executive Officer’'s duty to

oversee the overall internal operation of the Company.

The core duties of the Chairman include (among others):

o overseeing the development of the long-term strategies,

objectives and policies for the Company;

° ensuring, with the assistance of the management, that the
Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear, complete and
reliable information in a timely manner and are appropriately

briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings;
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providing leadership for the Board;

ensuring that the Board works effectively, performs its
responsibilities, and discusses all key and appropriate
issues in a timely manner, with good corporate governance

practices and procedures;

taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are in
place;

ensuring, (where appropriate) with delegation to Company
Secretary or a designated Director, that the agenda for each
Board meeting is drawn up and approving the same, taking
into account matters proposed by other Directors;

encouraging all Directors to fully and actively contribute to
the Board's affairs and taking the lead to ensure that it acts

in the best interests of the Company;

encouraging Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allowing sufficient time for discussion of issues
and ensuring that Board's decisions fairly reflect Board's

consensus;

promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating
the effective contribution of Directors, in particular, non-
executive Directors, and ensuring the constructive relations

between executive and non-executive Directors;

holding meeting(s) at least annually with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors. The Board regarded such meeting(s) as opinion
exchange gathering whereby a broad range of strategic and

performance matters were openly discussed;
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o ensuring appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that views of

shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole;

° attending the annual general meeting of the Company
and arranging for the chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
(as appropriate) or in the absence of the chairmen of such
committees, another member of same committee or failing
this, his duly appointed delegate, to be available to answer
guestions at the annual general meeting of the Company;
and

o deciding whether a resolution at a general meeting of the
Company relating purely to a procedural or administrative
matter should be excluded from the requirement for voting
by poll.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF MEMBERS OF THE

BoOARD

The Company has entered into service contracts with or issued
letters of appointment to its Directors setting out the key terms
and conditions of their appointments.

Under article 108 of the Company's Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation and every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years while those
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director
who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the 3 years
preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at
such annual general meeting. Any further Directors so to retire
shall be those who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot.
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In accordance with the said provision of the Articles of Association
of the Company and the Code Provision A.4.2, one-third of the
Directors (namely Mr. Han Chia-Yin, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Way
Yung-Do and Mr. Chen Chih) retired from office by rotation and
were re-elected as Directors at the last annual general meeting
of the Company ("AGM") held on 29 June 2021.

Further, pursuant to Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only until
the next general meeting of the Company (in the case of a
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy) or the next following
annual general meeting of the Company (in the case of a Director
appointed as an additional Director) and shall then be eligible for
re-election at the meeting. Accordingly, Mr. James Chun-Hsien
Wei (being appointed as an additional Director) and Mr. Hsia Li-
Yan (being appointed as an additional Director), were appointed
by the Board on 1 March 2021, were respectively re-elected as
an executive Director and an independent non-executive Director
at the AGM held on 29 June 2021.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received a written confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director of his independence to the Company. The
Company has assessed the independence and considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent
based on the independence criteria in accordance with the
requirements in the Listing Rules, their non-involvement in the
daily operation and management of the Group and the absence
of any relationships which will interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgment.
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The Company confirms that as at the date of this annual report,
the years of service of all independent non-executive Directors
are less than 9 except Mr. Way Yung Do and Mr. Chen Chih.
Should the Board wish to seek for the further appointments of
those independent non-executive Directors serving more than
9 years from the shareholders, separate resolutions will be
proposed to the shareholders and the reasons to justify their
independency despite of the length of their services will be

contained in relevant papers to the shareholders.

Non-executive Directors

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The
current term of appointment for the non-executive Directors

(including independent non-executive Directors) are as follows:



Name of Non-executive Directors/

Independent Non-executive Directors
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Term of Appointment
E5R

Mr. Han Chia-Yau
BRFILE

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen
BRRLE

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan
BREXAE

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin
HRENRE

Mr. Way Yung-Do
BoKE ek

Mr. Chen Chih
BRIGSE&E

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
TEEkE

Mr. Wei Anning
MZERE

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan
BEYExE

n|||

From 30 June 2020 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2023
BE-ZE-_EFA=+HERE —FREAFRELH

From 30 June 2020 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2023
BE-E - TF A ACtHHRBRE_ZT-_=FRFBAFRELH

From 29 June 2021 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2024
B —FRXAZTNHRE-_ZT-_NFRFAFRELHE

From 30 June 2020 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2023
BE-E - TF A A-+HRBRE_ZT-_=FRFBAFRELH

From 29 June 2021 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2024
A —FAAZTNHBREZS_NFRFEBFASER

From 29 June 2021 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2024
BEE - —FRAZTNERE_ZT-_NFERFAFTRELHE

From 30 June 2020 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2023
BE-ZE-EFXA=1tHERE —FRERBAFRELH

From 29 June 2021 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2024
BE-E - —FRAZTNEHBE T _NFRFEBFRELER

From 1 March 2021 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2024
BT = HEE T _NFRRBAFASL
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has established the Nomination Committee to provide
a framework and set the standards for the appointment of high
quality Directors who should have the capacity and ability to lead
the Company towards achieving sustainable development. It
considers matters regarding the nomination and/or appointment

or re-appointment of director(s).

Details of the Nomination Committee are set out in the sub-

section headed “Nomination Committee” below.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The management of the Company works closely with the newly
appointed Director(s) (if any) both immediately before and after
his appointment to acquaint the newly appointed Director(s) with
the duties and responsibilities as a Director and the business

operation of the Company.

A package compiled and reviewed by the Company’'s legal
advisors setting out such duties and responsibilities under the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of Laws
of Hong Kong) and other related law and relevant regulatory
requirements of Hong Kong is provided to each newly appointed
Director. The Company also provides information relating
to the operations and business of the Group to each newly
appointed Director. The Directors are updated with the latest
developments in laws, rules and regulations relating to the duties
and responsibilities of directors from time to time. Guidelines for
directors issued by the Company Registry of Hong Kong have
been forwarded to each Director for his information and ready

reference.
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The Board views that the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are well-aware of their
functions and have been actively performing their functions
including but not limited to exercising their independent
judgment at the Board meetings, taking the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise, scrutinizing the Company's
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives,
monitoring performance report and providing constructive and
informed advice on the business strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments, standards of
conduct and management of the Company. They regularly review
the financial information, monitor the operational performance of
the Company and serve on the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their
respective appointments, and in a timely manner for any change,
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments. They have
also informed the Company of the identity of any other public
companies or organisations they serve and the time involved in

these public companies or organisations.

All Directors have devoted their time and attention to the
affairs of the Company with their hands-on knowledge and
expertise in the areas and operation in which he is in charge
with. The contribution made by the Directors to the affairs of
the Company is measured in terms of time as well as quality
of the attention and the ability of the Directors with reference
to his necessary knowledge and expertise. The attendance
of Board meetings, general meeting(s) and Board Committee
meetings indicates the constant participation of all Directors,
including executive, independent non-executive and other non-
executive Directors and ensures the better understanding of the
views of shareholders by all Directors. The extent of participation
and contribution should be viewed both quantitatively and

qualitatively.
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To fulfil their duties properly, where they consider it as necessary
to obtain additional information other than that is provided by
the management, the Directors made inquiries during the Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings. The queries raised by

Directors have received a prompt and full response.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory
developments, and the business and market changes to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities through various Board
meetings, resolutions, memos and Board papers. According to
the records maintained by the Company, the Directors received
the following training (arranged by the Company) with an
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
listed company in compliance with the requirement of the Code
on continuous professional development during the period from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021:
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ETEY/ E-learning/
HEMHE Attend seminars/

) BEMR HNe Directors Read materials briefings
BITES Executive Directors
EEBRENRZT v v Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei v v

ey Rl =174 (became an executive Director

RBRITES) 1 March 2021)
BERELE V v Mr. Han Chia-Yin V v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
BRERE v v Mr. Han Jia-Hwan v v
BRFRAE v v Mr. Han Chia-Yau v v
BRRAAE v v Mr. Harn Jia-Chen v v
HRELE v v Mr. Chao Tien-Shin v v
HeBERERZE \ v Mr. Wei Anning (re-desigated from v v

——#=f—HH an executive Director to a non-

WTESRERE executive Director on 1 March

HITES) 2021)
BUEHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
KERAE \ v Mr. Way Yung-Do v v
RAatE \ V Mr. Chen Chih \ \
TE%E v v Mr. Ting Yu-Shan V \
EVERERZE v v Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (became an v v

——%=f—H independent non-executive

RAEIFTE Director on 1 March 2021)

%)
WS RT| SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS GUIDELINES

R G OIRA ST E 3R R 5 AT
(ERBITAZ EEETHER D2 BET
A (RSP RI ) AR (R B 2 1T A
B UREBABEENESSS -

R BE B AESHE 1%ﬁﬁvm
BE-Z=
B HEETESR SO @E?J&ﬁ
ATERE R EA R ST

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’

securities transaction on terms no less exacting than the required

standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions

by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors and they

have confirmed that throughout the year ended 31 December

2021, they complied with the required standard set out in the

Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding

directors’ securities transactions.
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The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company as at 31
December 2021 are set out on pages 87 to 89 of this annual

report.

The Board has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for the relevant employee,
including any employee or a director or employee of a subsidiary
or holding company of the Company who, because of his office
or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation
to the Company or its securities, in respect of their dealings in

the Company's securities.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board delegates its powers and authorities from time to
time to the Board Committees in order to ensure the operational
efficiency and specific issues are being handled by relevant
expertise. All Board Committees are provided with accurate and
sufficient information in timely manner so as to enable the Board
Committees to make informed decisions for the benefit of the

Company and sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the
management have been set out in the Director's Memorandum
In Discharging Director’s Duties (the “Director's Memorandum”)
adopted by the Board on 23 March 2012. The Board has
reviewed the said memorandum on periodically basis to ensure
that it remains appropriate. The policy for segregation of duties
and responsibilities between the Board and the permitted
delegates has been clearly defined and provided in the Director’s

Memorandum as internal guidelines of the Company.

The types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board

include those relating to (among others):

° corporate and capital structure;

o corporate strategy;
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° significant policies affecting the Company as a whole;
o material changes to policies adopted by the Board;

o business plan including major production and marketing

plans, budgets and publication of announcements;
o key financial matters;
o change to the structure, size and composition of the Board,;

o appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members,

senior management and auditors;
° remuneration of Directors and senior management; and

° communication with key stakeholders, including

shareholders and regulatory bodies.

Each Director has a copy of the Director’'s Memorandum and

clearly understood the above delegation policy of the Company.

For aspects of management and administration functions
delegated to the management, the Board has given clear
directions as to the management’s power, particularly as
to where management should report back and obtain prior
Board approval before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The Board also
reviews and monitors the training and development of the senior
management, details of which are set out in the section headed
“"Employee Compensation and Training” on page 24 of this

annual report.
BoARD COMMITTEES

In 2021, the Board had 4 Board Committees including the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the Executive
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all with specific
terms of reference, to oversee particular aspects of the Group's
affairs.
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R —F BELZEGHEENENEEZE Attendance of the relevant members of the Board Committee at
g i

EggENLFOEEEHINNAT the meetings of the committees in 2021 is as follows:
Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee Committee
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
HITZEEE: ENZE8EE FzEgeE REZEEE:
HTES Executive Directors
FEE KA (R =F =~ Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei 10/10 AR NA TEA NA TEA NA
FZA—HR AT  (became an executive Director
%) on 1 March 2021)
BRERE Mr. Han Chia-Yin 1M TR NIA T NA TR NA
FHITES Non-Executive Directors
BRRLE Mr. Hamn Jia-Chen ERA NIA AER N/A 212 2/2
BRERE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan AR NA AR NA TEA NA 22
BRTFRE Mr. Han Chia-Yau TR NIA TEA NIA 202 TR NA
BRELE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin EA NIA ER NIA TERA NIA TERA NIA
HZBLE Mr. Wei Anning (re-designated AR NA AR NA TERA NA TEA NA

(M=Z=-—%=HF  from an executive Director to
—HBHE#TEZHT  anon-executive Director on 1

BHRNTES) March 2021)

BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors

BKERE Mr. Way Yung-Do EA NIA 4f4 22 202
[ ¥ep e Mr. Chen Chih T NIA 444 202 212
TELESE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan NER NA 444 2/2 2/2
EVERERZZ=— M. Hsia, Li-Yan (oecame an A NIA 4/4 17 N

F=A—HBKABY  independent non-executive

FHITER) Director on 1 March 2021)
BEYITE Chief Executive Officer
BEREE Mr. Sun Teh Hong (i TEA NA ER NA TER NA

BRRRAER Chief Financial Officer & Chief
Human Resources Officer

REFEE Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng (i TEA NA TER NA TERA NA
BIAH Vice President
BEALE Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han m EA NIA ER NIA TERA NIA

56  AMES (TM) AR 27 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 September
2007. During the period from 1 January 2021 to 28 February
2020, the Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr. Chen Chih
(an independent non-executive Director) with other 4 members,
including Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a non-executive Director), Mr.
Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive Director), Mr. Way Yung-Do (an
independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (an
independent non-executive Director), the majority of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. During the period from
1 March 2021 to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
report, the Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr. Chen Chih
(an independent non-executive Director) with other 5 members,
including Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (each a non-
executive Director), and Mr. Way Yung-Do, Mr. Ting Yu-Shan and
Mr. Hsia Li-Yan (each an independent non-executive Director),
the majority of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference
adopted on 9 August 2013, which are closely aligned with the
relevant Code Provisions requirements and are available at both
the Company's website www.dfa3999.com and HKEx's website

www.hkex.com.hk.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following (among others):

° to review the structure, size and diversity of the Board
at least annually and to make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes to implement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

° to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and to select or to make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;
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to assess the independence of the independent non-

executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and succession planning for

Directors; and

to review the Board Diversity Policy (details of the Board
Diversity Policy are set out in the sub-section headed

“Board Diversity Policy” below).

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, 2 Nomination

Committee meetings were held on 9 February 2021 and 5

November 2021 respectively, to which the following tasks were

performed by the Nomination Committee:

considered the appointment of an independent non-

executive Director;
reviewed the current Board structure, diversity and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and

experience);

assessed the independence of all independent non-

executive Directors;

reviewed the diversity of the Board taking into account a
number of factors as set out in the Board Diversity Policy;

reviewed the necessary time for the Directors to discharge

their duties and responsibilities; and

considered change in the chairman of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has been advised that it may seek

independent professional advice at the expense of the Company

wherever necessary.



HHEEHZICLH

ARRER-ZE—=F)\ANLBRNEZTSK
BZTEBR(EEEZTEBR] @ JIHE
EZEREVLBFHREZ LM ESE 2
BRIEMEREZ J7 8 ©

ARRRRARERBZIKE ST EHESE N
EmARRE RN - REBAIFE RS
BR  AQRRBEEEEEAAZZ TR
S FHEBE RIS B AR R AT R B R AT R
HITE - ERTESQMAKE g2 EFE
EEREEYRE LI BIEETRRER -
Fie - XERHMBEER - BELR - g &
BRRIEER - EFEMAZEHIARARS
AR WEEZEBARBURBETRIBER
ERgXE LT bIEE o

EEZTLERARZ TLAE (BRED
RAMR - Fie - LRBEES Bk &
ERLE - B MRMRBERNEERS
REARMAIGERR -

RAZEGHNEEERIEESZ TR
R AR EMLBRAVB R - A A TR A

AIREREHER] - BREZESIRHLEIZE
BRI mEFSEENEL. -

TEERBME
Corporate Governance Report

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) on 9 August 2013 which sets out its approach
to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With
a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’'s composition, Board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of

diversity on the Board.

The Board Diversity Policy provides measurable objectives
for selection of Board candidates from diversity perspectives
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service).

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the said
Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration

and approval.
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Despite all the Directors being of the same gender, the
Nomination Committee considers that the current composition
of the Board is characterised by diversity after taking into
account the business model of the Group and specific industrial
characteristics, whether considered in terms of educational
and professional background and industry experience. The
Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
knowledge and experience in the areas of feeds production,
food production, food and beverage services, information
technology, aviculture, medicine, financial consultancy, auditing
and accounting. They obtained degrees in various majors
including business administration, engineering, computer
science, accounting and economics. In addition, the Nomination
Committee is considering to further improve the board diversity
by having female director(s) on the Board no later than 31
December 2024. The Company will further disclose and explain

the particulars in the next annual report.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 13 December 2018 which sets out the principles
and procedures for selection and nomination of members to the
Board, to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of

the Company's business.

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates
to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to
shareholders for election as directors of the Company at general
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies (as the

case maybe).
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The factors listed below would be used as reference by the

Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed

candidate:

Reputation for integrity;

Accomplishment and experience in the principal business
of the Company;

Commitment in respect of available time and relevant

interest;

Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service; and

Independence (in respect of independent non-executive

Directors).

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the

discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Committee shall convene a meeting and invite the

candidate(s) to attend the meeting for consideration and enquiry

by members of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee will continually review the

Nomination Policy and reserves the right to update, amend,

modify and/or cancel the Nomination Policy.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the period from 1 January 2021 to 28 February 2021,
the Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
(an independent non-executive Director) with other 4 members,
including Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive Director), Mr.
Han Chia-Yau (a non-executive Director), Mr. Way Yung-Do (an
independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Chen Chih (an
independent non-executive Director), the majority of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. During the period from
1 March 2021 to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr. Ting
Yu-Shan (an independent non-executive Director) with other 5
members, including Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive Director),
Mr. Han Chia-Yau (a non-executive Director), Mr. Way Yung-Do,
Mr. Chen Chih and Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (each an independent non-
executive Director), the majority of whom are independent non-
executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference adopted on 23 March 2012, which are closely aligned
with the relevant Code Provisions requirements. The terms of
reference are made available on the Company’s website www.

dfa3999.com and HKEx's website www.hkex.com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 September
2007 pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. It meets from
time to time to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company'’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors
and senior management, and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also reviews and
approves the performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from
time to time, and determines, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and

senior management.
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Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, 2 Remuneration
Committee meetings were held on 9 February 2021 and 5
November 2021 respectively, to which the following tasks were
performed by the Remuneration Committee:

o reviewed a report prepared by the management regarding
the human resources and remuneration policy and
workforce optimization measures of the Company in 2021;
and

° reviewed remuneration of Director(s).

The management provides administrative support and
implements the approved remuneration packages and
other human resources related decisions approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

Emolument Policy and Long-Term Incentive Plan

To attract and retain talent and calibre, the Company provides
a competitive remuneration package to its executive Directors
and senior management. This comprises base monthly salary,
guaranteed cash benefits and allowances, special allowances,
and is paid half-yearly or yearly relative to performance delivered
through plans and objectives which have predetermined criteria
and standards.

The fees and any other reimbursement or emolument payable to

the Directors by band and senior management are set out in note
8 to the financial statements.
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AupIT COMMITTEE

During the period from 1 January 2021 to 28 February of 2021,
the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Way Yung-Do with
other 2 members including Mr. Chen Chih and Mr. Ting Yu-Shan,
all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. During the
period from 1 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, the
Audit Committee was charied by Mr. Way Yung-Do with other 3
members including Mr. Chen Chih, Mr. Ting Yu-Shan and Mr. Hsia

Li-Yan, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

Mr. Way Yung-Do is the chairman of the Audit Committee and
has accumulated substantial experience in financial advisory,
accounting and auditing. Details of Mr. Way's biography are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” in this annual report.

The Audit Committee usually meets 4 times a year to review the
Company’s quarterly, interim and annual results and the integrity
of the Group's financial statements. The Audit Committee is
accountable to the Board and assists the Board in meeting its
responsibilities in ensuring an effective and adequate system is
in place for internal controls and for meeting its external financial
reporting obligations and compliance with other legal and
regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee also reviews and
monitors the scope and effectiveness of the work of external
auditors.

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference
adopted and amended on 23 March 2012 and 30 October 2015
respectively, which are closely aligned with the relevant Code
Provisions requirements. The terms of reference are made
available on the Company’s website www.dfa3999.com and
HKEx's website www.hkex.com.hk.
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The Audit Committee meetings are normally attended by the
Company's Chief Financial Officer. When meetings concern
the routine finance control, the head of the internal control
department of the Company also attends the meeting to report
on the problems identified during the internal control audits and
recommendation of methods to alleviate and solve the problems
identified. The external auditor is often present on discussion of
the audit of financial results and audit planning.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit
Committee held 4 meetings on 24 March 2021, 23 April 2021, 3
August 2021, 5 November 2021 respectively, during which the
following matters were reviewed and considered by the Audit
Committee (among others):

o the auditing work performed by external auditor;

o the internal control reports submitted by the internal audit
department of the Company and the effectiveness of the
systems of internal control and risk management of the
Group;

° the report on taxation related matters of the Company;

° the completeness and accuracy of the 2020 annual and

2021 quarterly and interim financial statements;

o the developments in accounting standards (if any) and the
effect on the Company;

o review internal control measures and defects (if any);

° the audit fees payable to external auditor, the scope and
timetable of the audit for year 2021;

o the recommendations to the Board, for the approval by

shareholders, for the reappointment of Messrs. KPMG as

the external auditor, which the Board agreed and accepted;
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o the aggregate value, pricing policy and other terms of
the continuing connected transactions carried out by the

Company; and

the facility arrangement(s) by the Company and its

subsidiary.

The Audit Committee has been advised that it may seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
wherever necessary. The Audit Committee is also supported
by the staff of the internal audit department and the external
auditor.

ExXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board established the Executive Committee on 14
September 2007 with specific written terms of reference. The
Board has delegated responsibilities to the Executive Committee
for making certain decisions for the management of the

Company.

The Executive Committee is bound by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 12 March 2010,16
December 2016 and 22 March 2019. The English version of the
terms of reference is available on the Company's website at
www.dfa3999.com.

In accordance with its terms of reference, members of the
Executive Committee shall be appointed by the Board from
amongst the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company only. The Executive Committee shall consist of no
more than 7 members, which include the executive Directors,
the chief operation officer or the chief financial officer of the

Company and other senior management of the Company.
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During the period from 1 January 2021 to 28 February of 2021,

the Executive Committee comprised the following members:

Executive Director
Mr. Wei Anning (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Sun Teh Hong

Chief Financial Officer & Chief Human Resources Officer
Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng

Vice President

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han

During the period from 1 March 2021 to 31 December 2021 and
up to the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises

of the following members:

Executive Director
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Sun Teh Hong

Chief Financial Officer & Chief Human Resources Officer
Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng

Vice President
Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han
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The work completed by the Executive Committee during 2021

included consideration of the following matters:

o approving any routine matters or matters concerning day-

to-day operation of the Group;

o implementing the annual business plan, operating and
capital expenditure budgets of the Company as approved
by the Board; and

o implementing the strategic plans and long-term objectives
as approved by the Board.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had net assets of
approximately RMB2,269,547,000 and the Company recorded a
profit attributable to equity holders of the parent of approximately
RMB155,473,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment in annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under

the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for the
preparation of the accounts for each financial period which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the

results and cash flows for that period.
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The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on page
106.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and hence decide that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements set out on pages
115 to 272 on a going concern basis. The Board is not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company'’s ability to continue as

a going concern.

The bases on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives
are explained in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set
out in pages 10 to 24 in this annual report.

The management provides the Board with sufficient explanation
and information, such as the Group’s major business activities
and key financial information, to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial information and other

information of the Company put before the Board for approval.

The management also provides all Directors with monthly
updates giving them a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Company’'s performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the
Listing Rules.
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RiSK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group's risk
management and internal control systems and oversees the said
system and is responsible for reviewing their effectiveness. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and
corporate governance roles in the Group's financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, and the

resourcing of the finance and internal audit functions.

In addition to the Board's oversight responsibilities, the Company
has also developed a risk management process and internal
control systems to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks
and to resolve material internal control defects (if any).

The management establishes a specified management system
for the risks of the Company. Members of the internal audit
department of the Company report to the management on a
regular basis to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to
address material internal control defects (if any), including any
improvement relevant to a given year. Results of such reports
and discussions are organized with ratings of each risk and
written response plans. The risk assessment is reviewed by
the management and presented to the Audit Committee or the

Board for their review.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are
adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting
records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance are appropriately
identified and managed. The systems and internal controls can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.
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The management is responsible for supervising enterprise risk
management works and reviewing significant aspects of risk
management of the Group. The operating units of the Group,
as risk bearer, identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor their own
risks, and report such risk management activities to the risk
management and compliance department on a quarterly basis.
The risk management and compliance department assesses and
presents regular reports to the management at each regularly

scheduled meeting.

The internal audit department of the Group reports to the Audit
Committee or the Board at the annual meeting of the Audit
Committee or the Board, the results of their works during the
preceding period pertaining to the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal controls, including but not limited to, indicating any
failures in implementing any internal control systems or material
weaknesses in those systems. The Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems and the effectiveness
of such systems for the year 2021 and considers such systems

effective and adequate.

For the procedures relating to the handling and publishment
of inside information, the management of the Company is
responsible for assessing the potential impact of any significant
urgent situations on the share price of the Company and its
transaction volume, and reports to the Board so that the Board
determines whether such information is considered as inside
information and is required to disclose as soon as practicable in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Company has employed its own internal auditors to perform
regular and systematic reviews of the Group's internal control
system. The reviews provide reasonable assurance that the
internal control system continues to operate satisfactorily and

effectively within the Group and the Company.
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Each year, the Audit Committee reviews the findings made
by the external auditor in respect of issues encountered by it
in preparation of the audit report, which often covers issues
relating to internal control. The Audit Committee also reviews
the risk management and internal control report submitted by
the Company’s internal audit department. The Audit Committee
will then review the actions performed or the plans to be
carried out by the management in addressing the issues.
The issues identified and the corresponding remedial plans
and recommendations are then submitted to the Board for

consideration.

For the year of 2021, no critical internal control issues have been
identified.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company is committed to ensuring compliance with
regulatory requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable
laws and regulations in handling connected transactions.
Accordingly, the Company implemented various internal control
mechanisms to identify and monitor connected transactions to
ensure that connected transactions are conducted under normal
commercial terms or on terms that are fair and reasonable
and properly disclosed and (if necessary) approved by the
independent shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The connected persons will be required to abstain from voting in
the general meetings. Details of the connected transactions of
the Company during the year are set out in the section headed
"Report of the Directors” of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year under review, the remuneration paid for services

BT KA T - provided by the Company's external auditor is roughly as follows:
&8 Amount

(AER¥EET ) RMB’000

EZRTS 4,752 Audit services 4,752

e BRTE Non-audit services

—ESGrEARTE 130 - ESG Consultation Service 130

— H A ARTE 790 — Other services 790

AL S COMPANY SECRETARY
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The position of Company Secretary is held by Ms. Cho Yi Ping,
a practising solicitor of Hong Kong who is not an employee of
the Company. The Company Secretary can contact the Company
through the head of legal department of the Company, Ms. Feng
Yuxia. The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board and
reports to the Board Chairman from time to time. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
to ensure that board procedures, and all applicable laws, rules

and regulations are followed.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Cho Yi Ping has to take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year 2021. She has fulfiled the requirement during the year under

review.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company endeavours to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping shareholders, investors, analysts, bankers
and other stakeholders informed of our corporate strategies and
business operations has been one of the key objectives of our
investor relations team.

The general meetings of the Company provide the best
opportunity for communication between the Board and the
shareholders. The Company complied with the required notice
periods for general meetings under the Code Provisions, the

applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Also, separate resolutions for each substantially separate
issue were proposed at the annual general meeting and an
extraordinary general meeting held on 29 June 2021 and 15

October 2021 respectively.

The chairpersons of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees and, where applicable,
the independent Board committee, are available to answer

questions at the general meetings of the Company.

The representatives of the external auditor of the Company,
Messrs. KPMG also attended the AGM held on 29 June 2021 to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and

auditor independence.
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VoTING BY PoLL

The Company expresses in each relevant corporate
communication that the shareholders shall vote by poll so as
to allow the shareholders to have one vote for every share of
the Company held. The chairman of the meeting would explain
the voting procedure and answer any questions from the
shareholders regarding voting by poll in the general meetings.
The poll voting results of the general meetings were published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively on the same day after the general meetings were
held.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY

GENERAL MEETING

Under Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, at least one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
The relevant extraordinary general meeting shall be held within
2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the

requisitionist(s) by the Company.

—Z = —FF 3R Annual Report 2021

75



76

EEERRE
Corporate Governance Report

TR SRR & b BRI SR B R B R R R

RIETFAMTE - REBBBEREN T ——F
=AZ T =HHETL RS - AR ATRE
i PERERERERS TN SRERNAR
AARES - EFSCRIVEE FRABIRIE
HEUEE - RRBBABREA TRREBNE
MMBmEEE TR -

FTEBAHMKER  BEMEBREERS -
MERRTEEG R EHEARRBEL
www.dfa3999.com © R EE TR A EXEHE
investors@dachan.com.cnBlEE @5 RE
BEREIEN  EERNEAARREAZED
Rk - AARIEEREZBRERE
HHEIARBEEESFSHN TN - Bk
BB RETREE RES

JBe BB

RZF-N\F+-A+=A ARAERKERK
BHE(REBE]) - REREWT

IRERR S — R RN A EE IR A=
BARRAMNEN - FRBERRZALDRHARKE
RE R ANME

KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND PROCEDURES FOR

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Based on the requirement of the Code, a Shareholders
Communication Policy was formulated and adopted on 23 March
2012 in order to ensure the shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company. The Board has taken appropriate
steps to provide effective communication with shareholders.
The effectiveness of shareholders communication under the
shareholders communication policy had been reviewed by the

Board on a regular basis.

All published information, including all the statutory
announcements, press releases and event calendars, is promptly
posted on the Group’s website at www.dfa3999.com. Investors
can also submit enquiries to the Board or senior management by
sending emails to investors@dachan.com.cn or directly by raising
questions or proposals at the general meeting of the Company.
The Company’s team dedicated to investor relations takes a
proactive approach to communicate with existing and potential
investors in a timely manner by making regular face-to-face

meetings and conference calls with investors.

DiviDEND PoLICY

On 13 December 2018, the Company has adopted its dividend
policy (“Dividend Policy”). The Dividend Policy is as follows:

The general policy for distribution of dividend is that the Company
shall enable the shareholders to enjoy the profits of the Company
whilst ensure adequate reserve for future development of the

Company.
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The following factors will be taken into account by the Board
when declaring dividend or recommending distribution of
dividend:

the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the

Company and each of the members of the Group;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital

expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

° the Group’s cashflow situation, the Group's debts to equity
ratio and any restrictions on financial ratios that may be

imposed by the loan agreements with financial institutions;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance

and position of the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

Declaration and distribution of dividend by the Company will be
subject to Articles of Association of the Company and all laws

and regulations applicable to the Company.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy, and the
Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at

any time or from time to time.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, no amendment to the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company has
been made.

CONCLUSION

Going forward, the Company will continue to work diligently to

maintain the highest level of corporate transparency possible.
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Report of the Directors

The Board submits the annual report together with the audited

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and operation of a highly vertically integrated business
encompassing feeds production, chicken meat processing and

supply of processed foods through its subsidiaries.
BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

REVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND PERFORMANCE

Details of the fair review (including an analysis using key financial
performance indicators) and the possible future development
trend of the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and

“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Food safety is the most significant risk faced by the Group's
business. In this regard, the Group has always been focusing on
building a traceable platform and adhering to the principle of 100-
1=0 so as to avoid the potential adverse impact of food safety

incidents that may occur in the operation of the Group.

Exchange rate fluctuation is also a market risk which the Group
seeks to actively handle. The Group has adjusted the currency of
borrowings as and when appropriate to minimise unnecessary
loss arising from change of currency.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year, the Group was not aware of any violation of the

relevant laws and regulations which may have significant impact

on it.
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DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Since 31 December 2021, save and except for the impact of
the COVID-19 outbreak as set out in note 33 to the financial
statements, the Board was not aware of any significant event

affecting the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

Promoting the sustainable development is a social responsibility
incumbent upon the Group. The Group has always been
committed to the resources conservation and emission reduction
and has replaced coal-fired boilers with clean energy boilers by
batches since 2015.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

“Integrity, Modesty and Foresight” are the core values of the
Group. The Group maintains a good cooperation relationship and
establishes a prospective cooperation model with its suppliers
and customers by persistently acting with integrity and with a
humble attitude.

The employees of the Group are principally engaged in feed
and animal nutrition segment, poultry and value meat segment,
global food segment and various supporting segments and
are responsible for relevant duties respectively in sales and
marketing management, product manufacturing, product
planning and marketing, administrative and human resources,
financial and operation analysis, audit and legal risk management
and control, material procurement and logistics management,
information technology technical support, product research and

development, quality and safety management and so on.

The Group has been upholding the following principles when

selecting, training, employing and retaining talents:

1. recruiting and selecting individuals who are suitable for
the Company’s corporate culture and job position based
on working plans and key performance indicators of the

position;
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Report of the Directors

2. designing specific training courses and launching
corresponding training plans according to different
positions and ranks of employees to continuously enhance
employee’s management and professional skills and to
provide a reservoir of outstanding talents for the Group;

3. designing and implementing different performance
appraisal systems and conducting suitable post adjustment
and job rotation based on different job natures to place
talents in suitable positions and optimise their performance;

4.  determining employees’ remuneration levels based on their
experience and performance as well as the market salaries
and implementing performance bonus incentive programs
for employees in different positions and also selecting
important talents every year for appropriate reward.

There is no significant dispute between the Group and its
employees. The Group commits to build an effective and
efficient team and enable its employees to share the results of
its operation.

SUBSIDIARIES

A list of subsidiaries together with their places of operations
and incorporation and particulars of their issued share capital/
registered capital are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 115 to
272.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB155,473 thousand (2020: profit of approximately
RMB202,890 thousand) have been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company are
set out on page 242 of the annual report and note 27(d) to the
financial statements.

To reserve the resources for the Group's business development,
the Board decides not to distribute any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: no dividend).
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 119
to 120.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 27(c) to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to the existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB24,000.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out

in note 14 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFT

Particulars of bank loans and overdrafts of the Group as at
31 December 2021 are set out in note 24 to the financial

statements.

LISTING OF SHARES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 4 October 2007.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company (the “Directors” and each a
"Director”) for the period from 1 January 2021 to 28 February
2021 (inclusive) were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Anning (Chairman) (Resigned as Chairman and
re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect from
1 March 2021)

Mr. Han Chia-Yin

NoN-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chen Chih

Mr. Way Yung-Do

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

With effect from 1 March 2021 and up to the date of this report,
the Directors are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Wei Anning
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Way Yung-Do

Mr. Chen Chih

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, whereas each of the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company.

The term of appointment of each Director is subject to the
Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company and/or
the Listing Rules and/or the laws of the Cayman Islands and may
be terminated by the Company or the Director pursuant to the
service contract or the letter of appointment (as the case may
be).

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting, not less than one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third, shall retire from
office by rotation and, under the corporate governance code of
the Company, every Director, including those appointed for a
specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every 3 years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election.

Accordingly, Mr. Wei Anning, Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-
Chen and Mr. Chao Tien-Shin shall retire from office by rotation
at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

All of the abovenamed Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers all the independent

non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out in pages 25 to 35 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST-
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of Directors, senior management and the
five highest-paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the

financial statements.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as those disclosed in “Connected Transactions” of this
section and "Related Party Transactions” in note 29 to the
financial statement, none of the Directors or their connected
entity or their associates had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as those disclosed in “Connected Transactions” of this
section and "Related Party Transactions” in note 29 to the
financial statement, there was not any contract of significance
between the Company, or one of its subsidiary companies, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 8.10(2)

As confirmed by each of the Directors, during the year ended
31 December 2021, none of them was engaged in or had any
interest in any business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business as

required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company
during 2021 or subsisted at the end of 2021.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no
effective restricted share award scheme of the Company and
there were no shares granted but remained unvested under any

previous restricted share award scheme of the Company.
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no
effective share option scheme of the Company and no share
options of the Company were granted, exercised, expired,

lapsed, cancelled or outstanding.



EHERRBITBABR R - HE
Bty B A5 o AR it S 9% AR

EZE=—F+A=1+—H ARAEEK
BETBABRARFSNEBEEE (ERR
B RAERD) (178 5 R HAG 1&01)) EBXVER)
Bk - ABBERR (D R B 5 B B s ok
B RADBIREES KB ROIFE 352164
rz B Mprel - SRR R AR 8%+ Frak
IEITAERETESFRHIIRETE (R
PRI ARG AR A A KB P R SO B
NN

(A WAAFZHELS -G :

EEEHRE

Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ")) as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing

Rules (“Model Code”), were as follows:

(A) INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY — LONG POSITIONS:

RERE UG
[EPN33 Hibfgs  fIEIAREZ BRITRA
2 /ReTHABESR g EREE HERHEE @t ZBREA
Number of Approximate
Personal Other underlying % of issued
interest interest shares held share capital
Name of Directors/ Number of ordinary under equity of the
Chief Executive shares held derivatives Total Company
HITEE :
Executive Directors:
FHRE 22,000 - - 22,000 0.002%
James Chun-Hsien Wei
BREA MWL) 382,000 200,000 - 582,000 0.057%
Han Chia-Yin (Note 1)
HHITEE :
Non-executive Directors:
BRE 344,000 - - 344,000 0.034%
Han Jia-Hwan
HAE (Wit2) 3,534,000 300,000 - 3,834,000 0.377%
Chao Tien-Shin (Note 2)
Ba 300,000 - - 300,000 0.030%
Chen Chih
K 355,000 - - 355,000 0.035%
Way Yung-Do

Z—Z = —F 53R Annual Report 2021

37



88

EZERE

Report of the Directors

Bi3E Notes:

1. BREAEWRAEEEERBIAN 1.
200,0008% A 1525

Mr. Han Chia-Yin is deemed to be interested in 200,000 shares held
by his spouse.

2. BRELXEWHGAEARBEERER 2. Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is deemed to be interested in 300,000 shares
1B £ [R5 5 #9300,0008% A (D #ES © jointly held by Mr. Chao and his spouse.
(B) RS VIR L 2 R4S — AT (B) INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS OF THE COMPANY
— LonNG PosITIONS:
Ll NG
BENT EER BETRAR
EENR 21 BEREME s BREDT
Approximate % of
Interests in  the relevant associated
Name of Name of associated Nature ordinary corporation’s issued
Directors corporations of interest shares held share capital
BRTF AREHEERDBR AR (HiZ1) BaEs 64,222 0.008%
Han Chia-Yau Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (Note 1) Beneficial owner
BRE Wit2) AKEBEERDERDA [P 3 11,852,234 1.391%
Chao Tien-Shin Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. Interest of spouse
(Note 2)
BisE - Notes:
1. AR EBEERBERA R ([RKEKEH 1. Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (“Great Wall Enterprise”), a company
) REEFMATITREEES incorporated in Taiwan and listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange
RS ETMHRR] - BARAKREE Corporation, is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.
&R ER -
2. BRELAEHRAEBBERBIES 2. Mr. Chao Tien-Shin was deemed to be interested in the 11,852,234

WEREKERNDBERABAFN
11,852,234 /% i (D #Ez= ©

KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

shares held by CTS Investment Corporation controlled by his spouse.
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Report of the Directors

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of
the Directors and chief executive and their associates had any
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
that was recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was the
Company or any of its parent companies, subsidiary undertakings
or its parent companies’ subsidiary undertakings a party to any
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions held
by the persons, other than a director or chief executive of the
Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

RARIRMNDFE - Long positions in shares of the Company:

£ BRME REE BB
Nature of Number of Approximate

Name interests shares %

Waverley Star Limited Enikn 375,899,946 36.99%
Beneficial interests

DNERRM AR Eakn 152,924,906 15.05%

Asia Nutrition Technologies
Corporation

Beneficial interests
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A1 R REE BAEA
Nature of Number of Approximate
Name interests shares %
KRR (2R AR A bR [N £ 528,824,852 52.04%
Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation (Frzt1)
(Note 1)
REEHEERINERRA bR [N £ 528,824,852 52.04%
Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation (Hizt1)
(Note 1)
Hansen, Inc. Eas 67,424,954 6.63%
Beneficial interests
BER EnfEn 50,978,000 5.02%
Sun Hui Ying Beneficial interests

FH5E1 © BE{DAWaverley Star Limited R 250 4 2 K i
NEIREEL © Waverley Star Limited &35/
BERMTARE B BAKEE (2R) R AR
MEEMB AR - mAKEBER () BR AR
BAREHBECERNERATNZENEA
A o RIEFEFREE KA - KB (2R A
[RA R RAREREERGBRAREIHES
M Waverley Star Limited & 2ol & & H A7
BENMARD 2 R A -

BREXHEEEN  RZZE-_—F+=A
=+—HB BRAQFREERESTBAE (B
EREEN EXEERESTHRABRR
7~ RGO REFWER AR ] —80) I -
BELmALTMEARRE]  FEREARRG
AR R B IRIEF A KB IEPIE336

[RAB MRS

AT EEARARNR R KRR A AR
BEEREEEXVEFE 253D T AR
ERESSAB 2 ARINESE EE ¢

1. BERERERARENCEZESE

2. BEFEER/RARERECEZEEZNE
EEIF:

KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Note 1: The shares were registered in the name of Waverley Star Limited and Asia
Nutrition Technologies Corporation, each of which was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd., which, in turn, was a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. Under the SFO,
both Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. and Great Wall Enterprise Co.,
Ltd. were deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Waverley Star
Limited and Asia Nutrition Technologies Corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no person,
other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, had notified the Company of an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

The following Directors are directors/employees of a company
which had an interest or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

1. Mr. Han Chia-Yin is a director of Great Wall Enterprise;

2. Mr. Han Chia-Yau is a director and the chairman of the

board of the directors of Great Wall Enterprise;



3. BERELRAKEMLEZEERE
BER

4. BREFERAKEMLEZEER R

5. TEUEEAARRAGCEZBIES
REHEECAFMEEGER -

B2 %)

FAN - AEBETY ETRRAFERNREA

THEITETHER

M

(2)

7 WER:

AR R REAE IR AR R B N
HER A B AN B B8 2 &) (R R IR
EERABEA) ([FRIMEE)

Marubeni Corporation ([AL4T] + KA F]
EREMB AR EERR) KA (R
B)ER AR ([AALFRE] - AAL ZH
BRE) RALALFEZMBAT (F AN
AREEA)

Better Me Precision Nutrition Limited
([Better Me (BVI)]) + BARAFIEEE
REAEFAN(ETRAEETH)
B0%XERA - MK BBERELEN
BEARRRATWBEAL

RRRR(L8)BERAF (RAKER
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AEERTH)30%XIERF]) + &

Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd.
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Report of the Directors

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen is a director and the vice chairman of

Great Wall Enterprise;

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is a director of Great Wall Enterprise;
and

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan is an independent director and the
chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration

committee of Great Wall Enterprise.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group carried out a number of connected

transactions with the following connected persons (as defined in

the Listing Rules), namely:

(1)

Great Wall Enterprise (being the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company) and its subsidiaries (being
associates of Great Wall Enterprise) excluding the Group
(the "Excluded Group”);

Marubeni Corporation (“Marubeni”, being a substantial
shareholder of a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and ALAL(FF BB R A A (“Marubeni PRC”, being
a subsidiary of Marubeni) and subsidiaries of Marubeni PRC

(all being associates of Marubeni);

Better Me Precision Nutrition Limited (“Better Me (BVI)"),
being a 30%-controlled company (within the meaning of
the Listing Rules) held by Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a director
of the Company), and hence an associate of Mr. Han Jia-

Hwan and a connected person of the Company;
DLF-SH (being a 30%-controlled company (within the
meaning of the Listing Rules) held by a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Great Wall Enterprise); and

Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. (“GWIH", being a

direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Great Wall Enterprise).
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The Group conducted the following connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions (other than those exempted
from the annual reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of

the Listing Rules) during the year ended 31 December 2021:

(@ On 18 April 2018, the Company (for itself and on
behalf of other members of the Group) and Great Wall
Enterprise (for itself and on behalf of other members of
the Excluded Group) entered into the master purchase
(renewal) agreement (“GWE Master Purchase (Renewal)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from
1 January 2019. The GWE Master Purchase (Renewal)
Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that (among
others) (i) the Group shall purchase and the Excluded Group
shall sell products (namely (i) flour and coated-flour and
(i) fermented soybean meal) on a non-exclusive basis in
accordance with written quotations or orders to be agreed
between the relevant member of the Group (as the buyer)
and that of the Excluded Group (as the supplier) from time
to time during the said duration; (ii) such written quotations
and orders shall be governed by the terms and conditions
of the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement; (iii)
prices of the products shall be agreed on an arms’ length
basis and on normal commercial terms or better and
within the range of fair price prevailing on the market of
the same or similar products in the PRC; and (iv) prices
for the products shall be settled by the relevant member
of the Group within 60 days after receiving the relevant
invoice(s). Products which may be purchased by the Group
under the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement
include flour, coated flour and fermented soybean meal. In
addition to the pricing terms provided in the GWE Master
Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, the Group also adopted a
set of internal policies to determine the prices and terms
of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the details of
which, together with other information regarding the GWE
Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, are set out in the
Company’s announcement and circular dated 18 April 2018

and 13 June 2018 respectively.
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Report of the Directors

On 27 April 2020, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Great Wall Enterprise
(for itself and on behalf of other members of the Excluded
Group) entered into the master purchase agreement
("GWE Master Purchase Agreement”) for a fixed duration
of 2.5 years starting from 1 July 2020. The GWE Master
Purchase Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that
(among others) (i) the Group agrees to purchase and the
Excluded Group agrees to supply products (such as aquatic
animal feeds) on a non-exclusive basis in accordance with
contracts of purchase to be entered into between the
relevant members of the Group (as the buyer) and the
relevant members of the Excluded Group (as the supplier)
from time to time during the said duration under the GWE
Master Purchase Agreement; (ii) prices of the products
shall be agreed on an arms’ length basis and on normal
commercial terms, and within the range of fair price
prevailing on the relevant market of the same or similar
products for the time being; and (iii) prices for the products
shall be paid by relevant members of the Group after the
delivery of the products by the relevant members of the
Excluded Group in accordance with the relevant contract
of purchase made in respect of such purchases. In addition
to the pricing terms provided in the GWE Master Purchase
Agreement, the Group also adopted a set of interna
policies to determine the prices and terms of the purchases
contemplated thereunder, the details of which, together
with other information regarding the GWE Master Purchase
Agreement, are set out in the Company’s announcement
and circular dated 27 April 2020 and 12 June 2020

respectively.
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from the Excluded Group under
the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement and GWE
Master Purchase Agreement amounts to approximately
RMB286,016 thousand. The Directors confirm that the
Group has followed the said pricing terms and policies
when determining the price and terms of those purchases.

On 18 April 2018, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Great Wall Enterprise
(for itself and on behalf of other members of the Excluded
Group) entered into the master supply (renewal) agreement
("GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement”) for a fixed
duration of 3 years starting from 1 January 2019. The
GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement stipulates, in
summary terms, that (among others) (i) the Group shall
supply and the Excluded Group shall purchase products
(namely aquatic animal feed products and fresh meat
products) on a non-exclusive basis in accordance with
written quotations or orders to be agreed between the
relevant member of the Group (as the supplier) and that
of the Excluded Group (as the buyer) from time to time
during the said duration; (ii) such written quotations and
orders shall be governed by the terms and conditions of
the GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement; (iii) prices
of the products shall be agreed by reference to the cost
of production for such products and using the same price
determination basis adopted by the relevant member of
the Group from time to time for sale of the same or similar
products to its other customers who are independent third
parties; and (iv) prices for the products shall be settled by
the relevant member of the Excluded Group within 60 days
after receiving the relevant invoice(s). Products which may
be supplied by the Group under the GWE Master Supply
(Renewal) Agreement include aquatic animal feed products
and fresh meat products. In addition to the pricing terms
provided in the GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement,
the Group also adopted a set of internal policies to
determine the prices and terms of the sales contemplated
thereunder, the details of which, together with other
information regarding the GWE Master Supply (Renewal)
Agreement, are set out in the Company’s announcement
and circular dated 18 April 2018 and 13 June 2018
respectively.
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Report of the Directors

During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to the Excluded Group under the
GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement amounts to
approximately RMB21,995 thousand. The Directors confirm
that the Group has followed the said pricing terms and
policies when determining the price and terms of those

sales.

On 18 April 2018, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Marubeni PRC (together
with its subsidiaries the “Marubeni PRC Group”) (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into the master
purchase (renewal 2018) agreement (“Marubeni Master
Purchase (Renewal) Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3
years starting from 1 January 2019. The Marubeni Master
Purchase (Renewal) Agreement stipulates, in summary
terms, that (among others) (i) the Group agrees to purchase
and the Marubeni PRC Group agrees to sell products (such
as soybean powder, mixed powder, oil, and condiment)
on a non-exclusive basis in accordance with contracts to
be made between the relevant member of the Group (as
the buyer) and that of the Marubeni PRC Group (as the
supplier) from time to time during the said duration under
the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement; (ii)
prices of the products shall be agreed on an arms’ length
basis and on normal commercial terms or better and
within the range of fair price prevailing on the market of
the same or similar products in the PRC; and (iii) prices for
the products shall be paid by the relevant member of the
Group after the delivery of the products by the relevant
member of the Marubeni PRC Group in accordance with
the relevant contract made in respect of such purchases.
In addition to the pricing terms provided in the Marubeni
Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, the Group also
adopted a set of internal policies to determine the prices
and terms of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the
details of which, together with other information regarding
the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 18 April
2018.
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During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from the Marubeni PRC Group
under the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement
amounts to approximately RMB1,534 thousand. The
Directors confirm that the Group has followed the said
pricing terms and policies when determining the price and
terms of those purchases.

On 18 April 2018, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Marubeni entered into
the master supply (renewal 2018) agreement (“Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement”) for a fixed duration
of 3 years starting from 1 January 2019. The Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement stipulates, in
summary terms, that (among others) (i) the Group agrees
to supply to Marubeni food related products under written
purchase orders placed pursuant to the Marubeni Master
Supply (Renewal) Agreement by Marubeni from time to
time during the said duration; (ii) prices of the products shall
be agreed by reference to the cost of production for such
products and using the same price determination basis as
that adopted by the relevant member of the Group from
time to time for sale of the same or similar products to its
other customers who are independent third parties; and
(iii) prices of the products shall be paid by Marubeni, upon
acceptance of the products tendered in conformity with the
purchase order placed by Marubeni, within the period and
manner as laid down in the said purchase order. In addition
to the pricing terms provided in the Marubeni Master
Supply (Renewal) Agreement, the Group also adopted a
set of internal policies to determine the prices and terms
of the sales contemplated thereunder, the details of which,
together with other information regarding the Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement, are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 18 April 2018.

During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to Marubeni under the Marubeni Master
Supply (Renewal) Agreement amounts to approximately
RMB127,616 thousand. The Directors confirm that the
Group has followed the said pricing terms and policies
when determining the price and terms of those sales.
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Report of the Directors

On 6 August 2020, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other member companies of the Group) and Better Me (BVI)
(for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries from time to time,
the “Better Me Group”) entered into the master supply
agreement (the “"BM Master Supply Agreement”) for a
fixed duration of 2 years starting from 1 September 2020.
The BM Master Supply Agreement stipulates, in summary
terms, that (among others) (i) relevant member companies
of the Group shall supply and relevant member companies
of Better Me Group shall purchase processed chicken
meat products and the relevant member companies of the
Group and the relevant member companies of Better Me
Group shall undergo transactions from time to time during
the said duration in accordance with the supply contracts
entered into under the terms of the BM Master Supply
Agreement; (ii) prices of the products shall be determined
on arms’ length basis which will be in accordance with the
production costs of the products involved, and the pricing
benchmark which shall allow for a certain level of profit
margin, and on normal commercial terms; and (iii) prices
for the products shall be paid by relevant members of the
Better Me Group upon receipt of the products supplied
in accordance with the supply contract within the period
specified therein. In addition to the pricing terms provided
in the BM Master Supply Agreement, the Group also
adopted a set of internal policies to determine the prices
and terms of the sales contemplated thereunder, the
details of which, together with other information regarding
the BM Master Supply Agreement, are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 6 August 2020.

During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to Better Me Group under the BM
Master Supply Aggreement amounts to approximately
RMB10,064 thousand. The Directors confirm that the
Group has followed the said pricing terms and policies

when determining the price and terms of those sales.
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On 24 April 2020, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and DLF-SH (for itself and
on behalf of other members of DLF-SH and its subsidiaries
from time to time, the “DLF Group"”) entered into the
master purchase agreement (the “"DLF Master Purchase
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from
1 May 2020. The DLF Master Purchase Agreement
stipulates, in summary terms, that (among others) (i) the
Group agrees to purchase and DLF-SH Group agrees to
supply products (such as flour and wheat bran) on a non-
exclusive basis in accordance with contracts of purchase
to be entered into between the relevant members of the
Group (as the buyer) and the relevant members of the DLF
Group (as the supplier) from time to time during the said
duration under the DLF Master Purchase Agreement; (ii)
prices of the products shall be agreed on an arm’s length
basis and on normal commercial terms and within the
range of fair price prevailing on the market of the same
or similar products in the PRC for the time being; and (iii)
prices for the products shall be paid by relevant members
of the Group after the delivery of the products by the
relevant members of the DLF Group in accordance with
the relevant contract of purchase made in respect of such
purchases. In addition to the pricing terms provided in the
DLF Master Purchase Agreement, the Group also adopted
a set of internal policies to determine the prices and terms
of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the details of
which, together with other information regarding the DLF
Master Purchase Agreement, are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 April 2020.

During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from the DLF Group under the DLF
Master Purchase Agreement amounts to approximately
RMB14,634 thousand. The Directors confirm that the
Group has followed the said pricing terms and policies

when determining the price and terms of those purchases.
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Report of the Directors

On 26 April 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Marubeni PRC (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into the master
purchase (renewal 2021) agreement (“Marubeni Master
Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement”) for a fixed duration
of 3 years starting from 1 January 2022. The Marubeni
Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement stipulates, in
summary terms, that (among others) (i) the Group agrees
to purchase and the Marubeni PRC Group agrees to sell
coated flour for food processing on a non-exclusive basis
pursuant to sales contracts to be entered into between the
relevant PRC members of the Group (as the buyer) and
the relevant members of the Marubeni PRC Group (as the
supplier) from time to time under the said duration under
the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement;
(i) prices of the products shall be agreed on an arm’s length
basis and shall be on normal commercial terms and within
the range of fair price of the same or similar products
provided by the member of the Marubeni PRC Group to
independent third parties in the PRC; and (iii) prices for
the products shall be paid by the relevant PRC member of
the Group in accordance with the relevant sales contract
made in respect of such purchase. In addition to the pricing
terms provided in the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal
2021) Agreement, the Group also adopted a set of internal
policies to determine the prices and terms of the purchases
contemplated thereunder, the details of which, together
with other information regarding the Marubeni Master
Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement, are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2021.

Z—Z = —F 53R Annual Report 2021

99



100

EZERE

Report of the Directors

(h)

KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

RZZEZ—FMWAZ+RE  KAQF
(REXRFRRERAEBEMKEART)
BN EFHE(ZTEZ—FEH)
W ((RAEHECZZ—FEHH
#) o BTEHEHR-_ZE-_—_F—F—H
B BH=F AT EHECZT=—
FEEABENEIMERE (AP
BOAAREREMAEERZHEE
PN AALE A EERERT SRR
BHEED  BEBEXSEKRIAL
FHECE—FEH) HENER R
WRAFETT (1 ZSERNERE2ZERM
WRZEGWEERS  WEHALEER
HEEKE AR THREEMEF (BB
NE=T)HE MR SIEUE REATER
MR R EERE - R(i) WA TR
B8 RROAT T8 B0 R B BT B AR ALY
EmEE Ll BT B ATSI AR R A
RETF A2 EEMNBER - Bk
NA T (—T - —FER) MR
EREBBTIN  REETERMN—ER
EOBUR - AES E H IR T HUE TR BRI A
BEREGER  GEFEERAMER
NA T HE(CT - —FER) HENE
BERAATAAE-S-_—FA
B A= SR/

On 26 April 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Marubeni entered into
the master supply (renewal 2021) agreement (“Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement”) for a fixed
duration of 3 years starting from 1 January 2022. The
Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement
stipulates, in summary terms, that (among others) (i)
Marubeni agrees to purchase and the Group agrees to sell
meat related products as set out in the written purchase
order placed by Marubeni in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal
2021) Agreement; (ii) prices of the products shall be agreed
by reference to the cost of production for the products
involved and using the same price determination basis as
that adopted by the relevant member of the Group from
time to time for sale of the same or similar products to
its other customers who are independent third parties;
and (iii) prices for the products shall be paid by Marubeni,
upon acceptance of the products tendered in conformity
with the purchase order placed by Marubeni, within the
period and manner as laid down in the said purchase order.
In addition to the pricing terms provided in the Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement, the Group also
adopted a set of internal policies to determine the prices
and terms of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the
details of which, together with other information regarding
the Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement,
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 26 April
2021.
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Report of the Directors

On 9 August 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) and Great Wall Enterprise
(for itself and on behalf of other members of the Excluded
Group) entered into the master purchase (renewal 2021)
agreement (“GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from 1
January 2022. The GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021)
Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that (among
others) (i) the Group shall purchase and the Excluded Group
shall sell products (namely (i) coated flour and (i) fermented
soybean meal) on a non-exclusive basis in accordance with
contracts for sale and purchase of products to be entered
into between the relevant members of the Group (as the
buyer) and the relevant members of the Excluded Group (as
the supplier) from time to time during the said duration; (ii)
prices of the products shall be agreed on an arm’s length
basis and shall be on normal commercial terms and shall be
within the range of fair price prevailing on the market of the
same or similar products in the PRC; and (iii) prices for the
products shall be paid by the relevant member of the Group
within 60 days after receiving the relevant invoice(s). In
addition to the pricing terms provided in the GWE Master
Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement, the Group also
adopted a set of internal policies to determine the prices
and terms of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the
details of which, together with other information regarding
the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement, are
set out in the Company’s announcement and circular dated
9 August 2021 and 24 September 2021 respectively.
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

() On 26 August 2021, GWIH and Great Wall Northeast Asia
Corporation (“NAC"), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the disposal agreement
(“"Disposal Agreement”). Pursuant to the Disposal
Agreement, NAC conditionally agreed to sell and GWIH
conditionally agreed to acquire (i) approximately 65.51% of
the total issued shares of Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN)
Investment Co. Ltd (being an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company); and (i) 100% of the total
issued shares of Marksville Corporation (being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), and all relevant
interests attached thereto for a consideration of RMB370.0
million. For further details, please refer to the Company's
announcement and circular dated 26 August 2021 and 24
September 2021 respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected
transactions which require disclosure in the annual report in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during the year.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
confirmed that the above-mentioned continuing connected
transactions were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of the Group’s business; (ii) either on normal commercial
terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than
those available to or from independent third parties; and (iii)
in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements
governing such transactions on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole.
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Report of the Directors

The auditor of the Company has reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions pursuant to rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules and advised the Board in writing with a copy
provided to the Stock Exchange that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that such transactions: (i) have
not been approved by the Board; (ii) were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing polices of the Group
where the transactions involve the provisions of goods or services
by the Group; (iii) were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such

transactions; and (iv) have exceeded the cap set by the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year of 2021, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s

listed securities.
MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers in 2021 and 2020 accounted for less than 30% of the
total sales of the Group. The aggregate purchases attributable to
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30%
of total purchases for both years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company'’s issued shares) had any interest in the five largest

customers or suppliers.
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KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by its human
resources department and seeks to provide remuneration
packages on the basis of the merit, qualifications and

competence of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Company will be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to factors including the Group's operating results,
responsibilities required of the Directors and senior management

and comparable market information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication
of this annual report (i.e. 20 April 2022), the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than service contracts with the Directors
or full-time employees of the Company, by which a person
undertakes the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of any business of the Company was entered
into or in force during 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices except such (if any) as they shall incur
or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty. Such provisions
were in force during 2021 and remained in force as of the date of

this report.
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Report of the Directors

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in page 276 of the

annual report.
AUDITORS

KPMG as the Company'’s auditors, will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
James Chun-Hsien Wei

Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
("the Group”) set out on pages 115 to 272, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2021, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”) issued by International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code") together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our opinion.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies on page 199.

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in
our audit

As at 31 December 2021, Our audit procedures to assess
the Group held property, impairment of property, plant and

plant and equipment equipmentincluded the following:
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with a carrying value of
RMB1,215,840,000 which
was used in the Group's
chicken meat, processed
food and feed production

operations.

The Group's property, plant
and equipment is allocated
to relevant cash generating
units ("CGUs") for the
purpose of assessing if
there is any impairment at
the end of the reporting

period.

Management considered
that there were indicators
of impairment of property,
plant and equipment
at 31 December 2021
because certain CGUs
have sustained losses and,
therefore, management
assessed the recoverable
amounts of these CGUS at
the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and

its value in use.

evaluating management'’s
processes and procedures for
the identification of indicators of
impairment of property, plant and

equipment;

evaluating management'’s
identification of CGUs and the
allocation of assets to each CGU
and management’'s methodology
adopted in the preparation
of the discounted cash flow
forecasts with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing

accounting standards;

evaluating the key assumptions
adopted by management in their
preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts, including
revenue growth rates and profit
margin ratios, by comparing
with the financial budgets which
were approved by the directors,
our understanding, experience
and knowledge of the Group’'s
businesses and future business

plans;
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are based on discounted

cash flow forecasts.

The preparation of
discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the
exercise of significant
management judgement,
in particular in forecasting
revenue growth rates and
profit margin ratios and in
determining appropriate

discount rates.

We identified assessing
impairment of property,
plant and equipment as a
key audit matter because
of the inherent uncertainty
involved in forecasting
future cash flows, in
particular in respect of
revenue growth rates,
profit margin ratios, and
the discount rates applied,
which could be subject
to potential management
bias.

comparing revenue, cost of sales
and other operating expenses
included in discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared in the prior year
with the current year's performance
to assess the accuracy of the
prior year's forecasts and making
enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations
identified and whether these had
been considered in current year's

forecasts;

engaging our internal valuation
specialists to evaluate the discount
rates applied in the discounted
cash flow forecasts by comparison
with other companies in the same

industry;

performing sensitivity analyses of
the key assumptions adopted in
the discounted cash flow forecasts,
including the revenue growth
rates, profit margin ratios, and
the discount rates and assessing
the impact of changes in the key
assumptions to the conclusions
reached and whether there are any
indicators of management bias;

and
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The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in

our audit

e considering the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
impairment assessment,
including key sensitivities, with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting

standards.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this

regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Yeung Ka Chun.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

23 March 2022
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Consolidated Income Statement

HE-_T-_—F+-_A=1+—RALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021
(RBEIEHRIN - UARBFITZES)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

o5t —E_—F =T
Note 2021 2020
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
4 EHI|*
Restated*
HELE Continuing operations
I Turnover 4 6,530,905 6,148,414
SHEE B A Cost of sales (5,869,121) (5,434,330)
EF Gross profit 661,784 714,084
HAbsg A Other operating income 5 16,708 22,094
Hth)F iz (B518) Other net gain/(loss) 5 12,059 (3,915)
PaN= [P %N Distribution costs (301,704) (303,716)
1THAX Administrative expenses (240,237) (223,833)
RKERF Profit from operations 148,610 204,714
W52 Finance costs 6(a) (12,575) (19,318)
FEhES AR AR EE Share of losses of equity-
accounted investees (1,529) (1,842)
BREL A=A Profit before taxation 6 134,506 183,554
FTiSH: Income tax 7 (9,909) (20,049)
ERERHE Profit from continuing operations 124,597 163,505
é%JJ:%%% Discontinued operation
bR AR BRER) Profit from discontinued
operation, net of tax 13 75,405 140,325
FAEF Profit for the year 200,002 303,830
THIA LT FEL : Attributable to:
ViN/NG Sz Equity shareholders of the
Company 155,473 202,890
SRR R A Non-controlling interests 44,529 100,940
FREF Profit for the year 200,002 303,830
BRER Earnings per share
— B — Basic and diluted 11 RMBO0.1530 RMB0.1997
AK#¥0.1530t AK®0.19977C
FREF —FHECE Earnings per share-continuing
operations
— BEARFEE - Basic and diluted 11 RMBO0.0893 RMB0.1079

AK¥0.08937T AR#¥0.10797T

F1220B F272 B 3 AR SR E A K The notes on pages 122 to 272 form part of these financial

TR o statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HE-T-_-—F+-A=1+—HBLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021
(BRZ=EEBHN - UARETFTES)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

FitaE —E—F —ECEF
Note 2021 2020
ARMTT AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
wE3)*
Restated*
FRERF Profit for the year 200,002 303,830
FREMEEKES Other comprehensive income
for the year
HiEAsHoEEEn v HE ¢ Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
MEEH =58 Exchange differences on translation 10 42,766 (9,200)
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income
e fonthelysar 42,766 | (9,200
FRAZHEKNEEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 242,768 294,630
THIA LA Attributable to:
Vi N/NE] ) d Equity shareholders of the Company 158,061 205,869
IR Non-controlling interests 84,707 88,761
FARHEKRERE Total comprehensive income
for the year 242,768 294,630
F1228 272 B WM R AR 75 3R 2k B 4H A The notes on pages 122 to 272 form part of these financial
B o statements.

116  xm&& (M) BFR2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited



e B ISR R AR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZT=_—F+=ZA=+—H
At 31 December 2021
(RBEIEHRIN - UARBFITZES)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BT —E-—5F —ECEF
Note 2021 2020
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
BETEE Fixed assets
—WE - BE KRR — Property, plant and equipment 14 1,019,618 1,347,787
— b AR — Land use rights 139,841 181,699
— & ME A — Investment property 56,381 53,157
REZ AR NG LD Interests in equity-accounted investees 16 69,796 80,727
Hiv o R &EE Other financial assets 1,948 1,948
EEFIBE E Deferred tax assets 26(c) 4,274 29,327
Al B R B IE Long-term tax recoverable 139,778 135,865
HiEmE&EE Other non-current assets 31,734 6,055
1,463,370 1,836,565
RBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 17 608,153 941,995
EYEE Biological assets 18 143,647 180,073
FEUE F RN Trade receivables 19 213,087 301,522
H b fE U SR IE K FE 50E Other receivables and prepayments 20 387,945 437,759
ReRRSEFEW Cash and cash equivalents 21 625,059 631,370
1,977,891 2,492,719
wEaE Current liabilities
FERTE SR Trade payables 22 397,655 541,618
H A e 508 Other payables 23 293,094 513,503
BHBE Contract liabilities 26,195 39,097
AEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 24 133,640 477,264
HEBE Lease Liabilities 25 3,387 8,917
FERT PSR Income tax payable 26(a) 10,215 12,792
FE AR F Dividend payables - 2,349
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 864,186 1,595540
/ﬁEJJﬁE/%{E ___________ Net current assets 1,113,705 897,179
EEAERABEE Total assets less current liabilities 2,577,075 2,733,744

$F1228 F272 B KM 3 R AR B 75 3R 2k A 4HLAK The notes on pages 122 to 272 form part of these financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
REZE=—F+=-A=+—8

At 31 December 2021

(B BEHIBIN - UARETT25])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

FitaE —E-—F —ECEF
Note 2021 2020
ARMTT AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
ATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 24 273,852 327,387
HEAE Lease Liabilities 25 30,579 130,613
FRERIEEFE Deferred tax liabilities 26(c) 3,097 3,441
307,528 461,441
EEFE Net assets 2,269,547 2,272,303
B f#E Capital and reserves
7 Share capital 27(c) 97,920 97,920
&t Reserves 27(d) 949,624 944,446
IREB A Retained profit 950,071 799,050
AATRREMLERS 2fEHEE  Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 1,997,615 1,841,416
FEIERR R Non-controlling interests 271,932 430,887
R Total equity 2,269,547 2,272,303

KREEEN_TE-_—F=A=-1+=A#ER Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

BRETE - 23 March 2022.
ERE BRE
James Chun-Hsien Wei Han Chia-Yin
FE HITEE
Chairman Executive director
F1228 272 B WM R AR 75 3R 2k B 4H A The notes on pages 122 to 272 form part of these financial
7B o statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in‘Equity
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=1+—RALFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(BREZHEEBI - RARETFITES)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

ARTRRER
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Re  BBEE AHERE Rk EXBR  BRER At FEREE  BR4E

Non-
Share Share  Merger  Statutory Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve  reserves  reserve profits Total interests equity
liE: (e (et (et (iteE
ik ) i) i) 2 27(div)
(note (note (note (note (note
Note ) 20 2(d)i) 20l 27(d)iv)
RZZ-ZE+-F  Balance at 31 December 2020
=T-BhiR 97920 583596 396,064 126376  (161590) 799,050 1841416 430887 2,272,303
ERigH Profit for the year - - - - - 15541 155,473 44529 200,002
Hf2AkE Other comprehensive income 10 - - - - 2588 - 2588 40178 42766
EREEWEEE  Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 2588 155473 18061 84707 242,768
FERERTE Capital contribution from non-controling
Interests - - - (1,862) - - (1,862) 1,862 -
RIBRADERRSE Profit distrbutions to minarity shareholders of
AR subsidiaries 270) - - - - - - - (44158) (44158
EERE Statutory reserves - - - 4452 - (4R - - -

HEkERER Disposal of non-controlling interest - - - - - .

(201,366)  (201,366)

RZF=-E Balance at 31 December 2021
+-A=1-H
Biks 97,920 583,596 396,064 128966  (159,002) 950,071 1,997,615 271932 2,269,547

$F1228 F272 B KM 3 R AR B 75 3R 2k A 4HLAK The notes on pages 122 to 272 form part of these financial

statements.
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mEERBER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE=Ts =&t A=1+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(BSEEBE - UARBTFL25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

e
Attrbutable o equty sharefolders of the Company

BE o BEE RRER iTER  EXRR RREN &R

HEREE  ERAR

Shere S Meoer  Statutory  Tranlation  Retained controling Total
captal  premium resene  resenes  resene piofis T
A i S A 4
1 )
Note (note [note (note (nofe [note

Ao I 1 1 1)

=

ol nterests equity

=
BE

Balance at 31 December 2019 90 3% 06064 105633 (164569 616903 163547  36%H 201248
Proftfor he year - - - - - N80 202890 100940 30380
Other comprefensive income 10 - - - - 19 -9 (I B0
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 209 0080 05869 8761 294630
Capital contrbution from
noncontrollng nterests - - - - - - - 6,1% 6,7%
BT SRR AR Proftdstbutons o minoty
shareholders of subsidaries ) = = - ° - - - (ae0s (41609
i Satutory resenves = = - - s = =
RCEBETRCT-ANER Balance at 31 December 2020 990 G35 36064 126376 (161590 799050 1841416 43088 227238

&
)
N
ity
3

272 8 KT 5 A 2N B 75 3R 3R MO AEL K The notes on pages 122 to 272 form part of these financial

7B o statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HE-_T-_—F+-_A=1+—RALFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021
(RBEIEHRIN - UARBFITZES)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BT B —T-THF
Note 2021 2020
ARETT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
KEEH Operating activities
KRETHMBRSE Cash generated from operations 21(b) 258,083 583,715
EERIZIEES Income tax paid 26(a) (21,564) (53,588)
RETBRBRESTF Net cash generated from
operating activities 236,519 530,127
REEH Investing activities
B S Interest received 14,960 12,420
BEETFEEEMK Payment for purchases of fixed assets (206,458) (152,782)
HEREEEEMSRIA Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 21,469 7,040
HEEE AR ARIFTEHIE Proceeds from disposal of equity-
accounted investees - 31,052
RIES AR ARIRE Investment in equity-accounted
investees - (6,000)
HERIEREEBFHIREHEDN  Disposal of discontinued operation,

) net of cash disposed of 13(c) 25,326 -
BARDFAARSRE  Netcashusedininvestingactivities =~ (144703)  (108,270)
R EE Financing activities

B e 2 ERID Capital element of lease rentals paid (9,269) (9,165)
EfRHEe 22D Interest element of lease rentals paid 14 (5,092) (5,709)
[EEREIES) Interest paid (16,592) (25,856)
BfRE Dividends paid (44,158) (41,605)
FTIGIRTTE RS IR Proceeds from new bank loans 980,814 848,252
EEEE Repayment of borrowings (1,006,607) (914,390)
xkE,/ NF)MBARIEHER  Capital contributions from/(payment)

A AREE to non-controlling equity owners of

subsidiaries - 6,796
MITHAARSEE  Netcashusedinfinancingactivities ==~~~ (100804) ~ (141677)
ReRBLEEY BD) Net (decrease)/increase in cash

EINFEEE and cash equivalents (9,088) 280,180

RENZRERBESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the year 631,370 370,102
ERSEHNTE Effect of foreign exchange rate

changes 2,777 (18,912)
RERZEESRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the

end of the year 21 625,059 631,370

1228 2272 B WM s AN B 15 R 0048 A The notes on pages 122 to 272 form part of these financial

%B% o statements.
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Notesto the Financial Statements

(B 5HEHEAN - UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

— B R

KRG (EMBRAB(ARRF DR
BRERE NN —FEIREG QA
E@GERERD FNEN_TTLF
AA+N\BERSREEMRLAZE
RERRA - ARFREKERE (CA
THEEIAEE ] - ERIARBRIAE
EERDIBREZEAN  RBUAR
KEARNMTRABHNEEREE -

ARABBRNR_ZZLE+AODBRE
BHAERXSMARARERAFEES -

S5 3 10 5 ) i e

(a) HEpEW

A HRER REER G R
ZEg((ERatENERES])
B BRI F R 2 R (L4 AE
BREEREFTENZESRMN
PR 5 11838 P 1) B B A5 S i 2
A1) (BB s E 2R ) - (&
FRERrERD (TRIFR &5 2RI ]) A
BE) UREBE (R BRG] B HK
BRERHE - 2P BHRERTE
ST(ERMAERZMARARES
EMRAD ([ EFRA) BBERE
BRE AEBRAZEANSS
BRI #IIAT ©

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

GENERAL INFORMATION

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May 2007 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group” and
individually as the “Group entity”) primarily is involved in
the manufacturing and trading of livestock feeds, poultry

and chilled meat and processed food.

The Company publicly offered shares on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 4 October
2007.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out

below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 2H 1IN - UARETT2S))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group and
the Company. Note 2(e) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest in

associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies

set out below:

derivative financial instruments are measured at

fair value.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(c)

(@)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
that best reflects the economic substance of the
underlying events and circumstances relevant to
that entity (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") (“presentation currency”), which is different
from the functional currency of the Company. The
Company's functional currency is United Stated
dollars (“USD"). The functional currency of those
subsidiaries in People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
and Vietnam is RMB and Vietnamese Dong
respectively. As its principal subsidiaries are located
in PRC, the directors of the Company consider
that it is appropriate to present the consolidated
financial statements in RMB. All financial information
presented in RMB has been rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimates are revised and in any future
periods affected.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are disclosed in note 30.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs to these financial statements for the current

accounting period:

° Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark reform

° Amendment to IFRS 16, Covid-19-related rent

concessions beyond 30 June 2021

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how to the Group's results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been

prepared or presented.
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KBS (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard or

interpretation that is not yet effective for the current

accounting period.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

©)

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group (see note 3(a)(ii). The
consideration transferred in the acquisition is
generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill
that arises is tested annually for impairment.
Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised
in income statement immediately. Transaction
costs are expensed as incurred, except if related
to the issue of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include
amounts related to the settlement of pre-
existing relationships. Such amounts are

generally recognised in income statement.

Any contingent consideration payable is
measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
If the contingent consideration is classified as
equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration are recognised in

income statement.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

@

(ii)

Business combinations (continued)

If share-based payment awards (replacement
awards) are required to be exchanged for
awards held by the acquiree’'s employees
(acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the
amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards
is included in measuring the consideration
transferred in the business combination. This
determination is based on the market-based
measure of the replacement awards compared
with the market-based measure of the
acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the
replacement awards relate to pre-combination
service.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held
by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-Group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in a subsidiary not attributable directly or
indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the

subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these
holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with notes 3(l) or (m) depending
on the nature of the liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 2H 1IN - UARETT2S))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(ii)  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made

to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 3(a)(iv)) or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or joint venture (see note 3(a)(iii)).

In the Company's statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see note 3(f)
(i), unless the investment is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal Group that is

classified as held for sale).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii)  Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group
or Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and

operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby
the Group or Company and other parties
contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement.
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3 EEFFEUR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEYE ) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(i) FE LA R G AL A () (iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)
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An investment in an associate or a joint venture
is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, unless
it is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal Group that is classified as held for
sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee's identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any).
Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group's share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 3(f)
(ii)). At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, whereas the Group's share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group's interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group's net

investment in the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa,
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under

the equity method.
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3 EEFFEUR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEYE ) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(i)  BFELN ARG E L ] (5E) (iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)
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In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate or
joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition

of a financial asset (see note 3(a)(iv)).

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in associates and joint
venture are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 3(f)(ii)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal Group

that is classified as held for sale).

—Z = —FF 3R Annual Report 2021

133



134

Bt 75 S MY

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEHMIN - IARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EEEEHBOR (8) 3

(a) HRAHEEHE ()
(iv) RN A AT E

REE RAR R IRAZES
REMNSFBR (RMBA
AIRAE DR ZRERIN)
s

PR FE 5 1% B A A S B G
BEZRAZABR - %5
REVBRAR BEMERE
FEIE R BE AT « HEAR
AEEFAEZNRER
h EIX%F%%S‘ZET&EH\%‘
o BRAARLEE A
BMIEADNRBENE
%ﬁWuESO(g) o
BE AT RA
HERTESEME

3 = B
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iv)  Other investments in equity securities

The Group's and the Company’s policies for
investments in equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint

ventures, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are recognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase the
investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 30(g). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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3 EEFFEUR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEYE ) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)
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(iv)  Other investments in equity securities (continued)
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Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised

in profit or loss as other income.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (see note 3(f)(ii)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the

property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying

plant and equipment (see note 3(c)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the following:

the cost of materials and direct labour;

- any other costs directly attributable to bringing
the assets to a working condition for their

intended use;

- when the Group has an obligation to remove
the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located;

and capitalised borrowing costs (see note 3(v)).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment (calculated as the difference
between the net proceeds from disposal and the
carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit

and loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as

follows:

Land use rights are depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

- T

Buildings

- HERT

Leasehold building

- RS K2R

Plant and machinery

— B B R
Furniture, fittings and equipment

- AE

Motor vehicles

- HitEREEE

Other right of use assets

W% - BEEREHEB SHD
MRERFHAR - AIZBEEN
KRAREEREENE R D ZHE D
i BHO0HNE - BENA
ERFHEENGERWE)E
FEH -

2-254F
2-25 years
1-16%F
1-15 years
10-124F
10-12 years
5-64F

5-6 years
4-5%F

4-5 years
1-3%F

1-3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,

are reviewed annually.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress represents office buildings,
various infrastructure projects under construction and
equipment pending installation, and is measured at
cost less impairment losses (see note 3(f)(ii)). Cost
comprises direct costs of construction and the initial
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on
which it is located during the periods of construction
and installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases
and the construction in progress is transferred to
fixed assets when the asset is substantially ready for
its intended use, notwithstanding any delays in the
issue of the relevant commissioning certificates by

the relevant authorities.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress until it is completed and ready for its

intended use.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 2H 1IN - UARETT2S))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Leased assets (continued)

@

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components
and non-lease components, the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses (see note 3(b)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits
is accounted for separately from the right-of-use
assets in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in debt securities
carried at amortised cost (see notes 3(a)(iv), 3(s)
(i) and 3(f)(i)). Any difference between the initial
fair value and the nominal value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 2H 1IN - UARETT2S))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of

the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions
that occurred as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In
such cases, the Group has taken advantage of
the practical expedient not to assess whether
the rent concessions are lease modifications,
and recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit or loss
in the period in which the event or condition that

triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

Leased assets (continued)

@)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is

classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is

recognised in accordance with note 3(s)(iv).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as
an operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note
3(c)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as

an operating lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 2H 1IN - UARETT2S))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

(®

Land use rights

The purchase costs of land use rights are amortised
on a straight-line basis over the period of land
use rights. Land use rights are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see
note 3(f)(ii).

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in
fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an

investment property is recognised in profit or loss.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(1)  Credit losses from trade and other receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for

expected credit losses (ECLs) on trade and

other receivables. Equity securities measured at

FVPL are not subject to the ECL assessment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

©)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the

effect of discounting is material:

- trade and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation

thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate;

- discount rate used in the measurement of

the lease receivable;

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to

credit risk.
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3 FEGHEOR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
) SRR A B () (f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
@) K EENE SRR R b (i)  Credit losses from trade and other receivables

WA IR 5 BT 1R (4) (continued)

FHETEE SRR () Measurement of ECLs (continued)
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

©)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables is always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk

has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; and

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on a
collective basis. The financial instruments
are Grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a

loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)  Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of trade and other
receivables is written off (either partially or
in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the

period in which the recovery occurs.
(i)  Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including

right-of-use assets (other than property
carried at revalued amounts);

- land use rights;
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(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

biological assets;

investments in subsidiaries; and

- interest in associates and joint ventures.

If any such indication exists, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest Group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit). A portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (for
example, head office building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest Group
of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
income statement if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or Group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value

in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable

amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.



3 EEEEHBOR (8)

®

(®

fri B4R B DAL (41)
(iii) YRS BEIR A L o

RBIE ETRA - AEEER
BRI ERIF 3455 H
SRS EE BN
B ARE R EIB 3RS - R
REATEAERY - AEEEARN
B R AE B S TR 2 [
—RERR - R R E
4 (R BTEESM () K (i) °

LR7Nog:d

EMEEBREAE HHENE
B BRARRFHREBRLE
EEIE I TR A A REHEEH T
iR BN AEE AR EEKA
HEMNAEEEEAER -

EMEENRABIEEBEER
REABEMEEMELNEMNE
A o

Bt 75 S M

Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 2H 1IN - UARETT2S))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

®

(g

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with |AS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see notes 3(f)(i)
and (ii)).

Biological assets

Biological assets include broilers, broiler breeder
eggs, breeder poultry, and are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses and where
appropriate, less any accumulated depreciation,
which the costs are not materially different from the

fair value due to short production cycle.
The cost of biological assets comprises its purchase

price and any costs attributable in raising the

biological assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BBHEHMIN - IARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(&

(h)

Biological assets (continued)

For biological assets stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses,
the depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
met